# **Southeast Alaska Pink Salmon Forecasting Models**

by

Sara E. Miller James M. Murphy Steven C. Heinl Andrew W. Piston Emily A. Fergusson Richard E. Brenner Wesley W. Strasburger and Jamal H. Moss

September 2022

Alaska Department of Fish and Game



**Divisions of Commercial Fisheries** 

#### Symbols and Abbreviations

The following symbols and abbreviations, and others approved for the Système International d'Unités (SI), are used without definition in the following reports by the Divisions of Sport Fish and of Commercial Fisheries: Fishery Manuscripts, Fishery Data Series Reports, Fishery Management Reports, and Special Publications. All others, including deviations from definitions listed below, are noted in the text at first mention, as well as in the titles or footnotes of tables, and in figure or figure captions.

Weights and measures (metric)		General		Mathematics, statistics	
centimeter	cm	Alaska Administrative		all standard mathematical	
deciliter	dL	Code	AAC	signs, symbols and	
gram	g	all commonly accepted		abbreviations	
hectare	ha	abbreviations	e.g., Mr., Mrs.,	alternate hypothesis	H <sub>A</sub>
kilogram	kg		AM, PM, etc.	base of natural logarithm	е
kilometer	km	all commonly accepted		catch per unit effort	CPUE
liter	L	professional titles	e.g., Dr., Ph.D.,	coefficient of variation	CV
meter	m		R.N., etc.	common test statistics	(F, t, $\chi^2$ , etc.)
milliliter	mL	at	a	confidence interval	CI
millimeter	mm	compass directions:		correlation coefficient	
		east	E	(multiple)	R
Weights and measures (English)		north	Ν	correlation coefficient	
cubic feet per second	ft <sup>3</sup> /s	south	S	(simple)	r
foot	ft	west	W	covariance	cov
gallon	gal	copyright	©	degree (angular)	0
inch	in	corporate suffixes:		degrees of freedom	df
mile	mi	Company	Co.	expected value	Ε
nautical mile	nmi	Corporation	Corp.	greater than	>
ounce	oz	Incorporated	Inc.	greater than or equal to	≥
pound	lb	Limited	Ltd.	harvest per unit effort	HPUE
quart	at	District of Columbia	D.C.	less than	<
vard	vd	et alii (and others)	et al.	less than or equal to	<
<i>y</i>	J	et cetera (and so forth)	etc.	logarithm (natural)	 In
Time and temperature		exempli gratia		logarithm (base 10)	log
day	d	(for example)	e.g.	logarithm (specify base)	log etc.
degrees Celsius	°C	Federal Information	5	minute (angular)	,
degrees Fahrenheit	°F	Code	FIC	not significant	NS
degrees kelvin	ĸ	id est (that is)	i.e.	null hypothesis	Ho
hour	h	latitude or longitude	lat or long	percent	%
minute	min	monetary symbols	0	probability	Р
second	s	(U.S.)	\$. ¢	probability of a type Lerror	•
Second	5	months (tables and		(rejection of the null	
Physics and chemistry		figures): first three		hypothesis when true)	α
all atomic symbols		letters	JanDec	probability of a type II error	
alternating current	AC	registered trademark	®	(acceptance of the null	
ampere	A	trademark	TM	hypothesis when false)	ß
calorie	cal	United States		second (angular)	Р ″
direct current	DC	(adjective)	U.S.	standard deviation	SD
hertz	Hz	United States of		standard error	SE
horsepower	hp	America (noun)	USA	variance	52
hydrogen ion activity	nH	U.S.C.	United States	population	Var
(negative log of)	P		Code	sample	var
parts per million	nnm	U.S. state	use two-letter	campie	
parts per thousand	nnt		abbreviations		
Parts per monound	PP*		(e.g., AK, WA)		
volts	V				
watts	W				

## FISHERY MANUSCRIPT NO. 22-03

#### SOUTHEAST ALASKA PINK SALMON FORECASTING MODELS

by

Sara E. Miller and Richard E. Brenner Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Juneau

James M. Murphy, Emily A. Fergusson, Jamal H. Moss, and Wesley W. Strasburger Alaska Fisheries Science Center, Auke Bay Laboratories, Juneau

and

Steven C. Heinl and Andrew W. Piston Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Ketchikan

> Alaska Department of Fish and Game Division of Sport Fish, Research and Technical Services 333 Raspberry Road, Anchorage, Alaska, 99518-1565

> > September 2022

The Fishery Manuscript Series was established in 1987 by the Division of Sport Fish for the publication of technically oriented results of several years' work undertaken on a project to address common objectives, provide an overview of work undertaken through multiple projects to address specific research or management goal(s), or new and/or highly technical methods, and became a joint divisional series in 2004 with the Division of Commercial Fisheries. Fishery Manuscripts are intended for fishery and other technical professionals. Fishery Manuscripts are available through the Alaska State Library and on the Internet: <a href="http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/sf/publications/">http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/sf/publications/</a>. This publication has undergone editorial and peer review.

Product names used in this publication are included for completeness and do not constitute product endorsement. The Alaska Department of Fish and Game does not endorse or recommend any specific company or their products.

Sara E. Miller and Richard E. Brenner Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, 1255 W. Eighth Street, Juneau, Alaska 99801, USA

James M. Murphy, Emily A. Fergusson, Jamal H. Moss, and Wesley W. Strasburger Alaska Fisheries Science Center, Auke Bay Laboratories, 17109 Point Lena Loop Road, Juneau, AK 99801, USA

Steven C. Heinl and Andrew W. Piston Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, 2030 Sea Level Drive, Suite 205, Ketchikan, Alaska 99901, USA

This document should be cited as follows:

Miller, S. E., J. M. Murphy, S. C. Heinl, A. W. Piston, E. A. Fergusson, R. E. Brenner, W. W. Strasburger, and J. H. Moss. 2022. Southeast Alaska pink salmon forecasting models. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Fishery Manuscript No. 22-03, Anchorage.

The Alaska Department of Fish and Game (ADF&G) administers all programs and activities free from discrimination based on race, color, national origin, age, sex, religion, marital status, pregnancy, parenthood, or disability. The department administers all programs and activities in compliance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) of 1990, the Age Discrimination Act of 1975, and Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972.

If you believe you have been discriminated against in any program, activity, or facility please write: ADF&G ADA Coordinator, P.O. Box 115526, Juneau, AK 99811-5526

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, 4401 N. Fairfax Drive, MS 2042, Arlington, VA 22203

Office of Equal Opportunity, U.S. Department of the Interior, 1849 C Street NW MS 5230, Washington DC 20240

The department's ADA Coordinator can be reached via phone at the following numbers:

(VOICE) 907-465-6077, (Statewide Telecommunication Device for the Deaf) 1-800-478-3648, (Juneau TDD) 907-465-3646, or (FAX) 907-465-6078

**For information on alternative formats and questions on this publication, please contact:** ADF&G, Division of Sport Fish, Research and Technical Services, 333 Raspberry Rd, Anchorage AK 99518 (907) 267-2375

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

#### Page

LIST OF TABLES	i
LIST OF FIGURES	ii
LIST OF APPENDICES	ii
ABSTRACT	1
INTRODUCTION	1
OBJECTIVES	3
ADF&G Forecast History	3
METHODS	4
Biophysical Predictor Variables	4
Satellite-Derived SST Data Southeast Coastal Monitoring Project Survey Data	4 5
Response Variable: Harvest Data	6
Individual, Multiple Linear Regression Models	6
Model Averaging (Multi-Model Inference)	6
Model Weighting	7
2022 Preseason Forecast Comparison	9
Past Performance Comparison (2012–2021 and 2017–2021)	10
RESULTS	11
2022 Forecast Comparison	11
Past Performance Comparison (Single-Year MAPE, 5-Year MAPE, 10-Year MAPE)	11
Standard Forecast Model	11
DISCUSSION	
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	14
REFERENCES CITED	14
TABLES AND FIGURES	23
APPENDICES	41

# LIST OF TABLES

#### Table

1.	Satellite sea surface temperature data from the Icy Strait region, Chatham Strait region, northern Southeast Alaska region, and Southeast Alaska region for May, May through July, April through June, and April through July.	24
2.	Annual adult pink salmon harvest data from Southeast Alaska, 1998–2022, compared to ISTI temperature and juvenile pink salmon CPUE data collected from the SECM project in the prior year, 1997–2021.	25
3.	Summary of model outputs including adjusted <i>R</i> -squared, one-step-ahead mean absolute percent error, inverse variance weighting, equal weighting, and the 2022 Southeast Alaska pink salmon harvest forecast.	26
4.	Forecast performance of the individual multiple regression models based on juvenile pink salmon CPUE and a temperature index: models m1 through m3	27

#### Page

# LIST OF TABLES (Continued)

5.	Forecast performance of the individual multiple regression models based on juvenile pink salmon	
	CPUE and a temperature index: models m4 through m6	28
6.	Forecast performance of the individual multiple regression models based on juvenile pink salmon	
	CPUE and a temperature index: models m7 through m9	29
7.	Forecast performance of the individual multiple regression models based on juvenile pink salmon	
	CPUE and a temperature index: models m10 through m12	30
8.	Forecast performance of the individual multiple regression models based on juvenile pink salmon	
	CPUE and a temperature index: models m13 through m15	31
9.	Forecast performance of the individual multiple regression models based on juvenile pink salmon	
	CPUE and a temperature index: models m16 through m18	32
10.	Forecast performance of the model-averaged approach, based on 18 multiple regression models with juvenile pink salmon CPUE and a temperature index, and weighted by the one-step-ahead inverse-	
	variance.	33
11.	Forecast performance of the model-averaged approach, based on 18 multiple regression models with juvenile pink salmon CPUE and a temperature index, and weighting the models equally.	33

## **LIST OF FIGURES**

#### Figure

gure	e	Page
1.	The Icy Strait region	
2.	The Chatham region encompasses waters of Chatham and Icy Straits	
3.	The northern Southeast Alaska region	
4.	The Southeast Alaska region	
5.	Satellite sea surface temperature averaged over region from 1997 through 2021	
6.	Average temperature at 20 m depth during May, June, and July	

## **LIST OF APPENDICES**

#### Appendix

#### Page

- Methodology used by ADF&G to forecast adult pink salmon returns or harvest in Southeast Alaska.......42 A. Β. Annual adult pink salmon harvest data from Southeast Alaska, the official forecast for the year, and the

## ABSTRACT

Pink salmon *Oncorhynchus gorbuscha* runs are notoriously difficult to forecast due to the species' propensity to respond dramatically to changes in the marine environment, cycles of abundance that fluctuate between odd and even years, and the fact that only one age class exists in the fishery each year. In an attempt to improve upon the standard forecast model, which incorporates juvenile pink salmon abundance (catch per unit effort [CPUE]) and temperature data (Icy Strait Temperature Index [ISTI]) from the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) Southeast Alaska Coastal Monitoring project, models with a different temperature index (satellite sea surface temperature [SST] data) along with a model-averaging approach were explored. To determine if one of these new approaches should be applied to the 2023 Southeast Alaska preseason pink salmon harvest forecast, the performance of the inverse-variance weighted model-averaged forecast, the equally weighted model-averaged forecast, and the individual regression models with satellite SST data or ISTI were compared for the last 5 and 10 years using only the data available at the time of the forecast. Based on the 5- and 10-year one-step-ahead mean absolute percent error (MAPE), the models that included juvenile pink salmon abundance (CPUE) and a spring and summer temperature index based on northern Southeast Alaska satellite SST data performed better than either of the model-averaged forecasts and better than the standard model with the biophysical variables CPUE and ISTI.

Keywords: pink salmon, model average, forecasting, *Oncorhynchus gorbuscha*, satellite sea surface temperature data, Southeast Alaska, forecast performance, juvenile pink salmon abundance, inverse-variance, CPUE, ISTI

### **INTRODUCTION**

Pink salmon Oncorhynchus gorbuscha runs in Southeast Alaska support a valuable commercial fishery (Clark et al. 2006), although annual abundance varies tremendously. An average of 33 million pink salmon per year were harvested in Southeast Alaska in the last 10 years (2012–2021), with a range of 8 million (2018 and 2020) to 95 million (2013) fish. Although the inseason management of these stocks is focused on monitoring daily harvest and fishing effort, and using aerial survey counts to assess whether adequate numbers of pink salmon are present to meet escapement goals (Piston and Heinl 2020), the fishing industry benefits from meaningful preseason forecasts in order to plan appropriately for the harvest, processing, transportation, and marketing of these fish. Pink salmon runs are notoriously difficult to forecast (Adkison 2002; Haeseker et al. 2005; Shevlyakov and Koval 2012; Radchenko 2020) due to the species' propensity to respond dramatically to changes in the marine environment (Farley et al. 2020), the odd- and even-year cycles of abundance (Heard 1991; Ruggerone et al. 2003; Krkošek et al. 2011), and the fact that there is only one cohort (i.e., only one age class) in the fishery each year (Heard 1991). With only a 2-year life cycle, information about cohort strength is not available from jacks or siblings as with other species of salmon (Adkison and Peterman 2000; Haeseker et al. 2007); sibling recruit modeling is not possible with pink salmon. Beginning in the late 1960s, the Alaska Department of Fish and Game (ADF&G) implemented programs to improve pink salmon stock assessment but met with limited success in forecasting pink salmon runs (see Appendix A). Forecast accuracy (i.e., absolute percent error) from 1981 through 2006 was 57% (Appendix B). Past forecasts relied primarily on measures of pink salmon spawning abundance or success (Jones and Hofmeister 1985; Hofmeister and Jones 1989; Hofmeister and Blick 1993), both of which are poorly known and explain little of the variation in annual recruitment, which is largely determined in the early marine environment (Parker 1968; Mortensen et al. 2000; Willette et al. 2001).

NOAA Alaska Fisheries Science Center, Auke Bay Laboratories (National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration [NOAA]) initiated the Southeast Alaska Coastal Monitoring (SECM) project in 1997 (Orsi et al. 1997; Murphy et al. 1999) to identify relationships between the year-class strength of juvenile salmon and the biophysical parameters influencing their growth and

survival, their prey and predator interactions, their habitat utilization, and their stock interactions in marine waters (Orsi et al. 2000, 2005, 2009). Through this project, standardized monthly sampling and trawl surveys have been conducted annually from May to August (the August survey was dropped in 2020) to collect ecosystem (oceanographic data such as temperature and salinity profiles of the water column, surface water samples, and zooplankton samples) and catch per unit effort (CPUE) data associated with juvenile salmon at 8 stations in Icy Strait, a major migration corridor in northern Southeast Alaska (Orsi et al. 2001, 2006, 2012). The environmental and oceanographic data provided through the SECM project has become one of the longest continuous time series of its kind for the North Pacific. A major finding of the SECM survey is that relative abundance of juvenile pink salmon in June and July was highly correlated to harvest of adults in the subsequent year. As a result, NOAA used peak juvenile pink salmon CPUE and environmental information collected during SECM surveys to forecast the Southeast Alaska pink salmon harvest starting in 2004 (Murphy et al. 1999; Wertheimer et al. 2009a, 2010a, 2011–2015, 2017, 2018; Murphy et al. 2019b).

In the past, ADF&G and NOAA produced separate Southeast Alaska preseason pink salmon forecasts. In 2007, ADF&G began adjusting their simple trend forecasts with juvenile pink salmon abundance data from the SECM survey (Heinl et al. 2007; Piston and Heinl 2014, 2017; Appendix A). Forecast accuracy (i.e., absolute percent error) improved from 57% (1981 to 2006 preseason forecasts) to 31% (2007 through 2017 preseason forecasts; the 2018 preseason forecast was based on the average of 5 recent even-year harvests and did not use juvenile abundance indices from the SECM survey; Appendix B). The largest absolute percent error between the forecast and the actual harvest occurred in the 1987, 1988, 2006, and 2018 forecasts. In 2018, ADF&G and NOAA scientists collaborated to create a joint preseason forecast for 2019 (Piston et al. 2021a). The SECM project and Southeast Alaska pink salmon harvest forecasts are now conducted cooperatively by NOAA and ADF&G using the ADF&G research vessel (R/V) Medeia (Piston et al. 2021a, 2022). The current method (2019 to 2022 preseason forecasts) is to forecast the adult pink salmon harvest in a multiple linear regression model with peak monthly (June or July) juvenile pink salmon CPUE and a temperature index (Piston et al. 2019, 2020, 2021a, 2022). The temperature index is based on the overall average 20 m integrated water column temperature recorded during May-July or May-August at 8 stations in Icy Strait as part of the annual SECM survey (Icy Strait Temperature Index [ISTI]; Murphy et al. 2019a). Together, both agencies continue to examine alternative variables and statistical methods to improve annual forecasts.

The potential use of satellite sea surface temperature (SST) data (available from the NOAA National Environmental Satellite Data and Information Service; Huang et al. 2017) was explored in forecasts of pink salmon harvests in 2021 and 2022 (Piston et al. 2021a, 2022). Satellite data allow for averaging of temperature readings over an almost infinite variety of temporal and geographic units and could potentially be a better predictor of pink salmon runs as compared to temperature data collected during the SECM survey. In addition, a model-averaging approach, as opposed to a 'one best' model approach, is being considered. Model-averaging in this report is based on model-averaging the predictions from a set of candidate models (Cade 2015). This report explores the possible methods that performed the best forecasts for 2021 and thus would be applied to forecast the 2023 adult pink salmon harvest.

## **OBJECTIVES**

- 1. Provide an overview of the history of the Southeast Alaska pink salmon forecasting models.
- 2. Forecast the 2022 adult pink salmon preseason harvest in Southeast Alaska using a modelaveraged approach and with individual, multiple regression models that incorporate juvenile pink salmon abundance data (CPUE) and satellite SST data, and compare these forecasts to the current method applied to forecast the 2022 adult pink salmon harvest.
- 3. Evaluate alternative approaches for incorporating temperature data into the adult pink salmon forecast model (e.g., model-averaged approach, individual models) along with alternative temperature variables (i.e., ISTI, satellite SST data).

## ADF&G FORECAST HISTORY

Pink salmon forecasting in Southeast Alaska began in the mid-1960s and has evolved over the years. To predict returning adult pink salmon populations in Southeast Alaska, ADF&G started a pre-emergent fry indexing program in spring of 1963 (Hoffman 1965). For this program, a pump with a hose was used to inject water and air into selected stream beds, forcing the salmon eggs and pre-emergent fry loose. A collection net placed downstream would catch the loose debris, and the number of dead and live eggs and alevins (i.e., fry density index measured as the number of fry per meter) were counted (Smedley et al. 1968). The justification for the relationship between fry and the resultant adult return was based on pink salmon predictions in Prince William Sound (Noerenberg 1961, 1963, 1964). Early predictions of southern and northern Southeast Alaska pink salmon runs, based on a weighted forecast of the escapement-return relationship and the preemergent fry indices, were not very accurate (Hoffman 1965, 1966; Smedley and Siebel 1967; Smedley et al. 1968). Throughout the 1970s, separate forecasts were developed for pink salmon runs in northern Southeast and southern Southeast Alaska due to regional differences in migration routes and run timing (Nakatani et al. 1975; Alexandersdottir 1987). Those forecasts were based on the relationship between fry abundance and adult returns (e.g., Valentine et al. 1969; Durley 1971, 1972). Starting with the 1974 forecasts, environmental variables such as seawater temperature and air temperature were added to forecast regressions (Durley 1973c; Kingsbury and Larson 1975; Jones and Hofmeister 1983a, 1983b). Pre-emergent fry indices were no longer available starting with the 1988 forecast (Jones and Hofmeister 1988); forecasts based on the fry abundance index were replaced by multiple linear regression forecasts of escapement indices, environmental variables, and fry data collected in the early marine program in Tenakee Inlet in the late 1980s to 1990s (e.g., Hofmeister 1990; Hofmeister and Blick 1991, 1992).

The 1993 forecast (Appendices A and B) was the first time that separate forecasts for northern and southern Southeast Alaska were not made, the result of cutting ADF&G pink salmon stock assessment programs, including the pre-emergent and early marine fry programs in 1992 (Hofmeister and Blick 1993). Early marine fry surveys were completely discontinued in 1997 (Geiger and Hart 1999). The 1994 to 2003 forecasts were a subjective combination of statistical forecast models, anecdotal fry abundance data, historical average harvests, environmental variables, and expert opinion (Willette 2000; Zadina 2002, 2003). This subjective method was replaced by a simple exponential smoothing model for the 2004 to 2006 harvest forecasts (Heinl et al. 2004, 2005, 2006). Starting with the 2007 forecast, the exponential smooth forecasts were adjusted with the NOAA June–July pink salmon fry data (Heinl et al. 2007; Piston and Heinl 2014, 2017). Recent harvest forecasts (2019–2022) have been based on a multiple linear regression

model with juvenile pink salmon abundance indices collected by the SECM project in northern Southeast Alaska inside waters during June and July along with a temperature index, and are produced by the combined efforts of NOAA and ADF&G (Piston et al. 2021a; Appendix A).

## METHODS

Biophysical variables based on data from Southeast Alaska were used to forecast the harvest of adult pink salmon in Southeast Alaska, a year in advance, using multiple linear regression in a model-averaging framework and based on individual models. Pink salmon harvest was the response variable. The potential predictive biophysical variables in the models were 1) April through July satellite-derived SST data, 2) overall average 20 m integrated water column temperature during (May–July) at the 8 stations in Icy Strait collected as part of the annual SECM surveys (ISTI; Murphy et al. 2019a), and 3) SECM survey juvenile abundance data (CPUE). Juvenile abundance data were the peak SECM CPUE in either June or July at the 8 stations in Icy and Chatham Straits. See the section 'Individual, Multiple Linear Regression Models' for details about the models.

Two comparisons were made. The first comparison was among the 2022 preseason forecasts from the 18 individual (bias-corrected) multiple linear regression models (one of which was the official forecast model) and the 2022 preseason forecast from a model-averaging approach (either the inverse-variance weighted model-averaged forecast or the equally weighted model-averaged forecast). Model-averaging in this report was defined as model-averaging the predictions from a set of candidate models. The actual (documented) preseason forecast (Piston et al. 2022) was based on one of the 18 multiple linear regression models with juvenile pink salmon abundance indices (CPUE) along with a temperature index. The second comparison was among the past performance of each of the 18 individual (bias-corrected) multiple linear regression models, the past performance of the inverse-variance weighted model-averaged forecast, and the past performance of the equally weighted model-averaged forecast, for the last 5 years (2017–2021) and for the last 10 years (2012–2021), using only the data available at the time of the forecasts. This comparison was done to determine if one of the multiple linear regression models or the model-averaging approach should be applied to the 2023 (and possibly future) preseason forecast.

#### **BIOPHYSICAL PREDICTOR VARIABLES**

#### Satellite-Derived SST Data

Monthly satellite-derived SST data (°C) from April 1997 through July 2021 were pulled from the NOAA National Environmental Satellite Data and Information Service (Huang et al. 2017) and matched to predetermined coordinates from 4 spatial regions to use as potential predictor variables in forecast models. The Icy Strait region encompasses waters of Icy Strait from the east end of Lemesurier Island east to a line from Point Couverden south to Point Augusta (Figure 1). The Chatham Strait region encompasses waters of Chatham and Icy Straits east of Lemesurier Island to Point Couverden, south to the approximate latitude of 56.025 degrees north (roughly at Cape Decision, Kuiu Island; Table 1; Figure 2). The northern Southeast Alaska region encompasses northern Southeast Alaska inside waters from 59.475 to 56.075 degrees north latitude (approximately ADF&G Management Districts 9–15, and District 13 inside area only; Figure 3); this area is defined as the northern Southeast Inside subregion for Southeast Alaska for pink salmon stock assessment (Piston and Heinl 2020). The Southeast Alaska region encompasses Southeast Alaska inside waters from 59.475 to 54.725 degrees north latitude (Figure 4). Satellite SST data,

by spatial region, were then summarized by time period; e.g., average May SST, average SST over the months of May through July (MJJ), average SST over the months of April through June (AMJ), and average SST over the months of April through July (AMJJ). The monthly data for July 2021 were not available, so daily data for July 2021 were summarized by month and region, then combined with monthly data from April 1997 through June 2021 to create the SST dataset (April 1997 through July 2021; NOAA Coral Reef Watch 2021b). These 16 variables (4 regions and 4 temporal variables per region; Figure 5) were then used as potential predictor variables in the pink salmon forecast models.

#### Southeast Coastal Monitoring Project Survey Data

Since 1997, the SECM project has been conducted annually to evaluate the status of the pelagic ecosystem, including juvenile pink salmon, in the northern region of Southeast Alaska (Orsi et al. 1997; Murphy et al. 1999). Survey sampling occurs in Icy Strait, along the primary seaward migration corridor of salmon in Southeast Alaska; samples collected during the SECM surveys include fish (salmon and other pelagic species), zooplankton, and oceanographic data (physical profile data of the water column and surface water samples; Orsi et al. 2001, 2006, 2012). Although methodology has varied slightly over the years (e.g., different research vessels, surveys used to occur May-August), current methodology is to sample from June-July at 12 principal stations in northern Southeast Alaska with transects in Upper Chatham Strait, Icy Strait, and Stephens Passage using the ADF&G research vessel (R/V) Medeia (Piston et al. 2021b). Additional oceanography sampling occurs at these stations in May using the NOAA Fisheries vessel Sashin. Surface trawl hauls conducted in June and July, using a Nordic 264 rope trawl to sample fish, are 60 minutes long in Stephens Passage and 20 minutes long on the upper Chatham and Icy Strait transects (Piston et al. 2021b). The Icy Strait and Upper Chatham transects include 8 sampling stations (stations ISA, ISB, ISC, ISD, UCA, UCB, UCC, UCD). Data from these surveys are summarized annually and provide information to forecast pink salmon harvest. Only data from the Upper Chatham and Icy Straits transects in May–July are used for pink salmon forecasting.

#### Vessel-Based Temperature Data (Icy Strait Temperature Index; ISTI)

Survey temperature (°C) data were summarized by year (1997–2021) and month (average over the months of May, June, and July) for the 20 m integrated water column in the Icy Strait and Upper Chatham transects combined (Table 2; Figure 6). This variable (ISTI) was then used as a potential predictor variable in the pink salmon forecast models.

#### Index of Juvenile Abundance (CPUE)

Catch rate or catchability (also known as catch per unit effort or CPUE) is commonly used in fisheries science as a relative index of population abundance of a species, with an assumption that there is a direct proportion between CPUE and abundance that is captured in the average CPUE over the years. This assumption relies on the belief that other influences that may change over time (sources of variation; e.g., temporal, spatial, fish behavior) do not affect CPUE (Hilborn and Walters 1992; Arreguin-Sanchez 1996). The index of juvenile pink salmon abundance is the predictor variable 'CPUE' in the pink salmon forecast models. The CPUE data are the natural log transformed juvenile pink salmon catches (ln CPUE+1) by haul, standardized to a 20-minute trawl set. The CPUE was then multiplied by a pooled-species vessel calibration coefficient, based on calibration of the fishing power of various vessels used in the SECM project to the fishing power of the NOAA ship *John N. Cobb*, the vessel used for the initial 11 years of the project (Wertheimer et al. 2008, 2009b, and 2010b). The CPUE values were averaged over all 8 stations by month; data

from whichever month (June or July) had the highest log transformed CPUE is then used as the juvenile abundance index for that particular year (Table 2).

## **RESPONSE VARIABLE: HARVEST DATA**

Harvest data (natural log transformed) was used as the response variable in the forecast models. Time series of annual Southeast Alaska adult pink salmon harvest data are obtained from the ADF&G Fish Ticket Database System in millions of fish. The data include total pink salmon harvest from all gear and harvest types (harvest code in parentheses): state managed fisheries (11), hatchery terminal area fisheries (12), spring troll fisheries (13), Annette Island fisheries (nonstate authorized; 17), confiscated fish (18), private hatchery fisheries (21, 22), commercial sale/sportfish derby (31), discarded catch (33), educational permit (35), and test fisheries (41, 42, 43). Harvest data are restricted to ADF&G Management Districts 101–116, 150, 152, 154, 156, and 157 in Southeast Alaska, and exclude the small numbers of pink salmon harvested in the Yakutat Management Area.

#### INDIVIDUAL, MULTIPLE LINEAR REGRESSION MODELS

Biophysical variables based on data from Southeast Alaska were used to forecast the harvest of adult pink salmon in Southeast Alaska, 1 year in advance, using individual, multiple linear regression models (models m1–m18; Table 3). The simplest regression model (model m1) consisted of only the predictor variable juvenile pink salmon CPUE  $(X_1)$ , whereas the other 17 regression models consisted of the predictor variable juvenile pink salmon CPUE and a temperature index  $(X_2)$ ,

$$\hat{E}(Y_i) = \hat{\alpha}_i + \hat{\beta}_{1i} X_1 + \hat{\beta}_{2i} X_2.$$
(1)

The temperature index was either the SECM survey ISTI temperature data (Murphy et al. 2019a; Table 2) or one of the 16 satellite-derived SST data (Huang et al. 2017; Table 1). Although the simplest model only contained CPUE, including temperature data with CPUE is probably a more accurate measure of juvenile abundance if temperature affects the proportion of juveniles that migrate through Icy Strait in a given year (Murphy et al. 2019a). The response variable (*Y*; Southeast Alaska adult pink salmon harvest in millions) and CPUE data were natural log transformed in the model, but temperature data were not. The forecast ( $\hat{Y}_i$ ) and 80% prediction intervals (based on output from program R<sup>1</sup>) from the 18 regression models were exponentiated and bias-corrected (Miller 1984),

$$\hat{F}_i = \exp\left(\hat{Y}_i + \frac{\sigma_i^2}{2}\right),\tag{2}$$

where  $\hat{F}_i$  is the preseason forecast (for each model *i*) in millions of fish, and  $\sigma_i$  is the variance (for each model *i*).

#### MODEL AVERAGING (MULTI-MODEL INFERENCE)

Model averaging is defined as calculating a weighted average of the predictions from the specified candidate models. In this case, the model-averaged approach was based on the weighted average of the predictions from the 18 individual, multiple regression models (i = 1, 2, ..., 18 candidate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> R Core Team (2021). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL <a href="https://www.R-project.org/">https://www.R-project.org/</a>.

models) with juvenile pink salmon CPUE and a temperature index. Two methods of weighting were investigated. The first method weighted each model by the one-step-ahead inverse-variance (model m19) and the second method weighted each model equally (model m20) among the 18 different models (Table 3).

#### Model Weighting

#### **One Step-Ahead Inverse-Variance Weights**

The first method to weight each of the candidate models in the model-averaged preseason forecast for 2022 is as follows:

- 1. Calculate the model-predicted adult pink salmon harvest for 2022 ( $\hat{Y}_i$ ) from each of the *i* regression models (18 models in the candidate model set) in natural log space (equation 1). This results in 18 separate preseason forecasts for 2022.
- 2. Calculate the model-averaged forecast  $(\tilde{Y})$  in log space by weighting each of the 18 model forecasts  $(\tilde{Y}_i)$  by the one-step-ahead inverse-variance weight  $(w_i)$ ,

$$\tilde{Y} = \sum_{i=1}^{18} w_i \hat{Y}_i. \tag{3}$$

The weights are normalized to sum to 1. To normalize the inverse-variance weights to sum to 1 ( $\sum w_i = 1$ ), each individual weight  $\delta_i$  is divided by the sum of all the model weights,

$$w_i = \frac{\delta_i}{\sum_{i=1}^{18} \delta_i},\tag{4}$$

where the one-step-ahead inverse-variance (from the last 5 years of predictions) weight,  $\delta_i$ , of each model *i* is defined as,

$$\delta_i = 1/(\frac{\sum_{t=1}^n (Y_t - \hat{Y}_t)^2}{n-1}).$$
(5)

In equation 5,  $Y_t$  is the natural log of the observed values (i.e., observed Southeast Alaska adult pink salmon harvest) and  $\hat{Y}_t$  are the predicted values (i.e., predicted Southeast Alaska adult pink salmon harvest in log space) from model *i* using data up to time *t*-1 in the last 5 years of the time series. In equation 5, n = 5 since the last 5 years are forecasted in the time series. The process, in detail, for calculating the inverse-variance (one-step-ahead inverse-variance weight) weight  $\delta_i$  for each model *i* is as follows:

- a. Estimate the regression parameters at time t-1 from data up to time t-1 for model i.
- b. Make a prediction of  $\hat{Y}_t$  at time t based on the predictor variables at time t and the estimate of the regression parameters at time t-1 for model i (i.e., the fitted regression equation).
- c. Calculate the inverse-variance weight (equation 5) based on the prediction of  $\hat{Y}_t$  at time *t* and the observed value of  $Y_t$  at time *t*.
- d. Repeat these steps for data up through year 2016 (e.g., data up through year 2016 is t-1 and the forecast is for year 2017; t), data up through year 2017: data up through year 2017 is t-1 and the forecast is for year 2018; t, data up through year 2018 to forecast 2019, data up through year 2019 to forecast 2020, and data up through year 2020 to forecast 2021. For example, based on the CPUE-only regression model (model m1; Table 3), and using data through 2016 (i.e., t-1;  $\hat{Y}_t = 2.45 + 0.41X_1$ ), the predicted

harvest in 2017 (i.e., year t;  $X_1 = 4.35$ ) is 4.23 (68.4 million fish) and  $(Y_t - \hat{Y}_t)^2 = (3.55 - 4.23)^2 = 0.46$ ; using data through 2017, the predicted harvest in 2018 is 2.67 (14.4 million fish) and  $(Y_t - \hat{Y}_t)^2 = (2.09 - 2.67)^2 = 0.33$ ; using data through 2018, the predicted harvest in 2019 is 2.86 (17.5 million fish) and  $(Y_t - \hat{Y}_t)^2 = (3.05 - 2.86)^2 = 0.04$ ; using data through 2019, the predicted harvest in 2020 is 2.87 (17.7 million fish) and  $(Y_t - \hat{Y}_t)^2 = (2.09 - 2.87)^2 = 0.61$ ; and using data through 2020, the predicted harvest in 2021 is 3.23 (25.3 million fish) and  $(Y_t - \hat{Y}_t)^2 = (3.88 - 3.23)^2 = 0.43$ . Then the sum of 0.46 + 0.33 + 0.04 + 0.61 + 0.43 divided by 4 (i.e., n - 1) is 0.47. Finally, one divided by 0.47 is 2.14. This value (2.14) is then the inverse-variance weight of the CPUE-only model for the 2022 forecast. To normalize this value (equation 4),  $\delta_{m1} = 2.14$  is divided by the sum of the 18 individual model weights (i.e., 2.14/65.85 = 0.03) and  $w_{m1} = 0.03$  is the one-step-ahead inverse-variance weight for the CPUE-only model (model m1; Table 3). This value is then used in equation 3 as  $w_i$  for model m1.

The process to calculate the confidence interval around the model-averaged forecast is as follows. Calculate the standard error of the model-averaged forecast (i.e., the square root of the unconditional variance estimator; equation 9 in Buckland et al. 1997; derivation in Burnham and Anderson 2002:159–162) as

$$\widehat{\operatorname{se}}(\widetilde{Y}) = \sum_{i=1}^{18} w_i \sqrt{\widehat{\operatorname{var}}(\widehat{Y}_i) + \gamma_i^2},\tag{6}$$

where  $\tilde{Y}$  is the model-averaged forecast (in log space; assumed unbiased),  $\hat{Y}_i$  is the individual model *i* forecast for 2022 (in log space), and  $\gamma_i$  (i.e., the misspecification bias of model *i*) is computed as  $\gamma_i = \hat{Y}_i - \tilde{Y}$ . To calculate  $\hat{var}(\hat{Y}_i)$ , an estimate of *s*, the estimate of the standard error of the predicted mean, is squared (i. e.,  $(s\sqrt{d})^2$ ; where *d* is the individual model with *i* degrees of freedom. An estimate of *s* is output from the statistical program R<sup>1</sup>. The confidence interval is then calculated as,

$$\tilde{Y} \pm z_{1-\alpha/2} \,\widehat{\operatorname{se}}(\tilde{Y}),$$
(7)

where  $z_{1-\alpha/2} = 1.28$  for an 80% confidence interval. The model-averaged forecast, the upper confidence interval, and the lower confidence intervals are then exponentiated,

$$\hat{F} = \exp(\tilde{Y}). \tag{8}$$

The one-step-ahead inverse-variance weighted preseason forecast is not bias-corrected (Miller 1984; Haeseker et al. 2007) due to the nature of the equations used. Although the model-averaged forecast  $\tilde{Y}$  is in log space, to transform the forecast would require a model-averaged  $\sigma^2$ , the variance of the residuals estimated from fitting the model (e.g.,  $\hat{F}_i = \exp\left(\hat{Y}_i + \frac{\sigma_i^2}{2}\right)$ ; equation 2); each of the 18 models has an individual  $\sigma^2$  associated with it, but the model-averaged preseason forecast does not have an  $\sigma^2$  associated with it. This is probably not an issue because the maximum difference between the bias-corrected and non-bias-corrected forecasts for 2022, for example, from the 18 individual models was only 1.5 million fish. This is well within the prediction intervals of the individual models.

#### **Equal Weights**

The second method to weight each of the candidate models in the model-averaged preseason forecast for 2022, as was implemented in the 2008 pink salmon harvest forecast (Heinl 2008), is to weight the models equally (equation 3; each model is weighted by  $w_i = 1/18 = 0.06$  because there are 18 models). Two potential methods to calculate the confidence interval of the model-averaged forecast based on equal-weighting of the models are based on (1) producing hindcast predictions for the last 5 years (2017–2021), then estimating the sample standard deviation from the sum of the squared errors of the log of the observed values minus the log of the predicted values (hindcast method); or (2) using equation 6 above based on Buckland et al. (1997). The 80% confidence interval is then calculated as equation 7. The model-averaged preseason forecast and upper and lower confidence intervals are then exponentiated as in equation 8. Similar to the reasoning for the one step-ahead inverse-variance weighting, the equally weighted model-averaged preseason forecast is not bias-corrected (Miller 1984; Haeseker et al. 2007).

The detailed methods to calculate the confidence interval based on the hindcast method are as follows:

- Create hindcast predictions for the last 5 years in the data series for each of the 18 models using all the data in the time series (18 hindcast predictions for each year for 5 years; 2017–2021). For example, the CPUE-only regression model (2.33 + 0.43X<sub>1</sub>), based on the entire available time series, would be used to create predictions for years 2017–2021 by replacing X<sub>1</sub> with the observed CPUE in that year (e.g., replacing X<sub>1</sub> with the observed CPUE in 2017 (0.35) to predict the harvest in 2018 (12 million fish)).
- 2. Produce a model-averaged forecast  $\tilde{Y}$  for each of the last 5 years by weighting the 18 models equally, within each year, using equation 3 and  $w_i = 0.06$  (one model-averaged forecast per year).
- 3. Estimate the sample standard deviation from the sum of the squared errors of the natural log of the observed values (i.e., the observed harvest for that year) minus the natural log of the predicted values for the 5 forecasts (i.e., the equally weighted model-averaged forecasts for years 2017 through 2021),

$$\widehat{\operatorname{se}}\left(\widetilde{Y}\right) = \sum_{t=1}^{n} (Y_t - \widetilde{Y}_t)^2.$$
(9)

In equation 9,  $Y_t$  is the natural log of the observed values (i.e., observed Southeast Alaska adult pink salmon harvest) and  $\tilde{Y}_t$  are the predicted values (i.e., equally weighted, modelaveraged predictions of the Southeast Alaska adult pink salmon harvest) in the last 5 years of the time series. In equation 9, n = 5 since the last 5 years are forecasted in the time series. For example, the equally weighted, model-averaged forecast for 2017 (in log space) is 3.66. Using equation 9,  $(3.55-3.66)^2 = 0.01$ . This is repeated for the 2018–2021 forecasts, and these values are summed (e.g., the summed value is 0.92).

4. Use the summed value (0.92) as the variable  $\widehat{se}(\widetilde{Y})$  in equation 7 to create 80% confidence intervals around the forecast.

#### **2022 PRESEASON FORECAST COMPARISON**

The first comparison was between the 2022 preseason forecasts from the 18 individual (biascorrected) multiple linear regression models (Table 3), and the 2022 preseason forecasts from a model-averaging approach (inverse-variance weighted model-averaged preseason forecast or the equally weighted model-averaged preseason forecast; Table 3). The official 2022 preseason forecast (15.6 million fish rounded to 16 million fish; 80% prediction interval 10–24 million fish; Piston et al. 2022; model m2) was based on one multiple linear regression model with juvenile pink salmon abundance indices (CPUE) collected by the SECM project in northern Southeast Alaska inside waters during June and July along with a temperature index. The temperature index was based on the overall average 20 m integrated water column temperature during (May–July) at the 8 stations in Icy Strait collected as part of the annual SECM surveys (Murphy et al. 2019a).

#### PAST PERFORMANCE COMPARISON (2012–2021 AND 2017–2021)

To determine if these new methods should be applied to the 2023 preseason forecast of adult pink salmon harvest in Southeast Alaska, the past performance of the 18 individual (bias-corrected) multiple linear regression models, the past performance of the one step-ahead inverse-variance weighting of the 18 models (i.e., model-averaged forecast), and the past performance of the equal weighting of the 18 models (i.e., model-averaged forecast) were compared for the last 5 years (2017–2021) and for the last 10 years (2012–2021) using only the available data at the time of the forecast. For the 20 models (m1 through m20), the forecast performance metric one-step-ahead mean absolute percent error (MAPE) was calculated as follows.

- 1. Estimate the regression parameters at time *t*-1 from data up to time *t*-1.
- 2. Make a prediction of  $\hat{Y}_t$  at time *t* based on the predictor variables at time *t* and the estimate of the regression parameters at time *t*-1 (i.e., the fitted regression equation).
- 3. Calculate the MAPE based on the prediction of  $\hat{Y}_t$  at time *t* and the observed value of  $Y_t$  at time *t*,

$$MAPE = \left| \frac{\exp\left(Y_t\right) - \exp\left(\hat{Y}_t + \frac{\sigma_t^2}{2}\right)}{\exp\left(Y_t\right)} \right|.$$
(10)

4. For each individual model, average the MAPEs calculated from the forecasts,

$$\frac{1}{n} \sum_{t=1}^{n} \left| \frac{\exp\left(Y_{t}\right) - \exp\left(\hat{Y}_{t} + \frac{\sigma_{t}^{2}}{2}\right)}{\exp\left(Y_{t}\right)} \right|.$$
(11)

For example, to calculate the 5 year one-step-ahead MAPE for model m1, use data up through year 2016 (e.g., data up through year 2016 is *t*-1 and the forecast is for *t*, or year 2017). Then, calculate a MAPE based on the 2017 forecast and the observed pink salmon harvest in 2017 using equation 10. Next, use data up through year 2017 (e.g., data up through year 2017 is *t*-1 and the forecast is for year 2018; *t*) and calculate a MAPE based on the 2018 forecast and the observed pink salmon harvest in 2018 using equation 10. Repeat this process for each subsequent year through year 2020 to forecast 2021. Finally, average the 5 MAPEs to calculate a 5 year one-step-ahead MAPE for model m1. For the 10-year one-step-ahead MAPE for model m1, the process would be repeated, but the first forecast year would be 2012.

For the 2 model-averaged forecasts (model m19 and model m20), the performance metrics 5-year and 10-year one-step-ahead MAPE were calculated using the same 4 steps outlined above (and the methods under the section Model Weighting), but equation 10 was replaced by

$$MAPE = \left| \frac{\exp(Y_t) - \exp(\tilde{Y})}{\exp(Y_t)} \right|.$$
(12)

and equation 11 was replaced by

$$\frac{1}{n}\sum_{t=1}^{n} \left| \frac{\exp\left(Y_{t}\right) - \exp\left(\tilde{Y}\right)}{\exp\left(Y_{t}\right)} \right|.$$
(13)

#### **RESULTS**

#### **2022 FORECAST COMPARISON**

The 2022 preseason forecasts from the individual multiple regression models varied little from a low of 13.0 million fish (model m18) to a high of 16.5 million fish (model m1; Table 3). The forecasts based on a model-averaged approach, weighting the models by either the inverse-variance weighting or equally, were roughly the same (13.6 million fish, based on the one step-ahead inverse-variance weighting with an 80% CI of 6.5–28.3, based on Buckland et al. 1997; and 13.6 million fish based on equally weighting with an 80% CI of 4.2–44.4, based on the hindcast method or with an 80% CI of 6.5–28.6, based on Buckland et al. 1997). The model-averaged forecasts are roughly 2 million fish less than the official 2022 forecast that was based on the biophysical predictor variables CPUE and ISTI (model m2 in Table 3; 15.6 million fish rounded to 16 million fish; Piston et al. 2022).

# PAST PERFORMANCE COMPARISON (SINGLE-YEAR MAPE, 5-YEAR MAPE, 10-YEAR MAPE)

The best models for each year, based on the one-step-ahead MAPE, are found in Tables 4 through 11. Based on the one-step-ahead MAPE, by year, the best models for 2012 were m9 and m18 (MAPE was <1%), the best model for 2013 was m2, the best model for 2014 was m3, the best model for 2015 was m11, the best model for 2016 was m9, the best model for 2017 was m14, the best model for 2018 was m11, the best model for 2019 was m1, the best model for 2020 was m14, and the best model for 2021 was m2. For the 2012 (m1, m3-m12, m14-m20), 2014 (m3, m7, m11, m13), 2016 (m7, m9, m14, m18–m20), 2017 (m5, m6, m7, m10, m13, m14, m17–m20), and 2019 (m1) forecasts, one or more models had a MAPE that was 10% or less (models stated in parentheses), whereas for the 2013, 2015, 2018, 2020, and 2021 forecasts, none of the models had a MAPE that was 10% or less. Across the last 5 years (2017–2021) of forecasts, models m5, m11, m13, m14, and m17 had the lowest one-step-ahead MAPE (28-31%). Across the last 10 years (2012–2021) of forecasts, models m3, m7, m9, m11, m13, m14, and m19 had the lowest one-stepahead MAPE (24-27%). Based on the one-step-ahead MAPE in the last 5 and 10 years, the best models were m11, m13, and m14. These models included CPUE and a northern Southeast Alaska (NSEAK) satellite SST index for May (m11), April through June (m13), or April through July (m14).

#### **Standard Forecast Model**

The standard preseason forecast model used from 2019 to 2022 (Piston et al. 2019, 2020, 2021a, 2022) was a multiple linear regression model with peak monthly (June or July) juvenile pink salmon CPUE and the ISTI temperature index (Murphy et al. 2019a). This model, model m2, ranked 16/20 (average one-step-ahead MAPE of 40%) and 17/20 (average one-step-ahead MAPE of 37%) based on the average one-step-ahead MAPE in the last 5 and 10 years, respectively.

#### DISCUSSION

Model averaging (or ensemble modeling; Burnham and Anderson 2002) incorporates the uncertainty inherent in model structure and in parameter values into the analysis results (i.e., forecast) by weighting individual candidate models to create one prediction (Madigan and Raftery 1994; Wintle et al. 2003; Dormann et al. 2018). Some studies have suggested that this method outperforms choosing one single best model (Haeseker et al. 2005; Araújo and New 2006; Anderson et al. 2017) because predictions from alternative models can be highly variable. Based on the past performance comparison using the one-step-ahead MAPE in the last 5 and 10 years in this study, though, the individual models consistently performed better than the model-averaged predictions (i.e., model-averaging the predictions from the set of candidate models; Cade 2015). The best models for forecasting pink salmon harvests in Southeast Alaska (SEAK) were the individual models, not the forecasts from either of the model-averaged approaches. Individual models that included CPUE and an NSEAK satellite SST index for May (m11), April through June (m13), or April through July (m14) performed the best.

The model-averaging approach has been explored in historical forecasts of adult pink salmon returns (Heinl 2008) and in exploratory analyses of alternative methods of forecasting this stock (Adkison 2002). "Equal-weight" model averaging was applied to the 2008 forecast of adult pink salmon harvest; due to concerns that the 2007 June-July pink salmon fry CPUE index from the SECM project was low and outside the range of historical data, the exponential smooth estimate and the CPUE-error-adjusted estimate were averaged to produce the 2008 forecast (Heinl 2008). The "equal-weight" approach was again applied in this study as a comparison to the one-stepahead inverse-variance from the last 5 years of predictions. Bayesian model averaging (Bayesian model weights; Adkison 2002) was also investigated as an alternative approach to the traditional statistical forecast models implemented at the time (Willette 2000; Geiger and McNair 2001; Zadina 2002). Spawner-recruit models that included environmental variables (Quinn and Deriso 1999) such as average upwelling anomalies, growth information from fish scales, average Gulf of Alaska SST anomaly, and average Southeast Alaska air temperature anomaly from September to August with and without density-dependent effects, were weighted by the posterior probability of each model and its parameter combination. To implement this method, the joint posterior probability distributions of the parameters of the full Bayesian model (with the environmental predictors included) was first computed. The posterior distribution was then sampled for model parameters and a stochastic forecast was drawn from each sample creating a Bayesian posterior predictive distribution of the 2002 pink salmon forecast for each competing model (Adkison 2002). The Adkison (2002) approach is an example of the Bayesian approach (Patterson 1999), whereas the approach implemented in this report is a frequentist approach to model averaging (Burnham and Anderson 2002).

There are various approaches to estimating the model-averaged weights, including fixed equal weights, Bayesian model weights, information-theoretic framework based on the Kullback-Leibler divergence (e.g., Akaike's Information Criterion; Akaike 1973; Burnham and Anderson 2002), and cross-validation (Dormann et al. 2018). Because our goal was to reduce prediction error in the forecast, one of our model weighting methods was based on the one-step-ahead inverse-variance from the last 5 years of predictions (model m19 in this analysis). This weighting method aims to adjust the average (i.e., improved inference) so that better performing models receive more weight than poorly fit models. The other method, equal weights, was considered a naïve approach to forecasting (model m20 in this analysis). Both methods produced identical forecasts for 2022 (13.6

million fish), although this was mainly due to the fact that the 18 individual models produced similar forecasts (range 13.0–16.5 million fish) and that there were a large number of candidate models. If there was more variability among the individual forecasts, or only a few of the models were considered candidate models, the difference between the model-averaged forecasts based on the one-step-ahead inverse-variance or the equal weights approach would likely have been greater.

The standard error of the model-averaged forecast (i.e., the square root of the unconditional variance estimator) was based on equation 9 in Buckland et al. (1997). This method assumes that the average point estimate  $\tilde{Y}$  is unbiased and, thus, the average point estimate can be used to compute the bias of the individual predictions. In addition, the method by Buckland et al. (1997) assumes that predictions from different models are perfectly correlated (i.e., covariance term is large) and, as a result, the variance estimation is more conservative (Dormann et al. 2018). Although the Buckland et al. (1997) estimator has been criticized (Hjort and Claeskens 2003; Claeskens and Hjort 2008), this method has proved to work adequately in simulations (Lukacs et al. 2010; Fletcher and Dillingham 2011) and thus was used as one approach to calculate confidence intervals in this study.

Forecasting in recent years is moving toward more computationally intensive, nontraditional methods utilizing techniques such as artificial neural networks (Zhou 2003; McCormick and Falcy 2015), ridge regression (McCormick and Falcy 2015), least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (Lasso; McCormick and Falcy 2015), elastic net (McCormick and Falcy 2015), principal component regression (Burke et al. 2013; McCormick and Falcy 2015), and machine learning within ensemble models (Ovando et al. 2022). For example, recent efforts to improve forecasting of Bristol Bay sockeye salmon O. nerka included machine learning techniques to identify correlations in returns across multiple river systems and age classes. Compared to the preseason forecasts provided annually by the Fisheries Research Institute at the University of Washington and ADF&G, the ensemble modeling approach that incorporated machine learning was able to reduce the forecast error by an average of 13% in 5 of the 7 river systems, although the forecast error increased for the remaining 2 river systems (Ovando et al. 2022). In the past, NOAA explored a more complicated forecasting model that incorporated 6 ecosystem metrics (that were significantly correlated with the Southeast Alaska pink salmon harvest) and their average rank scores into an ecosystem indicators rank index (Wertheimer et al. 2015; Orsi et al. 2016; Wertheimer et al. 2017). This parameter was used as an alternative to CPUE in the forecasting models. Although the ecosystem model seemed to perform well in the first 2 years it was used (2014 and 2015 preseason forecasts; Wertheimer et al. 2015; Orsi et al. 2016), the 2-parameter model (i.e., vessel-calibrated peak June or July juvenile pink salmon CPUE and the Icy Strait temperature index) has been the selected forecast model in recent years (Piston et al. 2019, 2020, 2021a, 2022). As Adkison (2002) pointed out, "reducing the uncertainty in forecasts of pink salmon harvests will likely require direct measures of a cohort's abundance in coastal or marine waters." This is precisely the objective of the annual SECM surveys: to annually sample coastal ocean metrics and juvenile salmon along their primary seaward migration corridor in Southeast Alaska, to create a long-term time series. Although more complex models may one day be developed that provide clear improvements to our pink salmon forecast (e.g., model-averaged approach, machine learning), currently, the simple individual regression models using the SECM survey juvenile CPUE data and the spring/summer satellite-derived SST data provide the best forecast performance with the lowest forecast error.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to acknowledge Jordan Watson (NOAA, fishery scientist) for suggesting the possibility of a new temperature index based on satellite sea surface temperature data and providing guidance to make that possible. The current forecasts and methods are located on the ADF&G commercial fisheries GitHub site: https://github.com/commfish/southeast\_pink\_salmon\_preseason.

#### **REFERENCES CITED**

- Adkison, M. D. 2002. Preseason forecasts of pink salmon harvests in Southeast Alaska using Bayesian model averaging. Alaska Fishery Research Bulletin 9(1):1–8.
- Adkison, M. D., and R. M. Peterman. 2000. Predictability of Bristol Bay, Alaska sockeye salmon *Oncorhynchus nerka* returns 1 to 4 years in the future. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 20(1):69–80.
- Akaike, H. 1973. Information theory as an extension of the maximum likelihood principle. Pages 267–281 [*In*] B. N. Petrov and F. Csaki, editors. Second International Symposium on Information Theory. Akademiai Kiado, Budapest, Hungary.
- Alexandersdottir, M. 1987. Life history of pink salmon (*Oncorhynchus gorbuscha*) and implications for management in southeastern Alaska. Doctoral dissertation. University of Washington, Seattle.
- Anderson, S. C., A. B. Cooper, O. P. Jensen, C. Minto, J. T. Thorson, J. C. Walsh, J. Afflerbach, M. Dickey-Collas, K. M. Kleisner, C. Longo, G. C. Osio, D. Ovando, I. Mosqueira, A. A. Rosenberg, and E. R. Selig. 2017. Improving estimates of population status and trend with superensemble models. Fish and Fisheries 18(4):732–741.
- Araújo, M. B., and M. New. 2007. Ensemble forecasting of species distributions. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 22(1):42–47.
- Arreguin-Sanchez, F. 1996. Catchability: a key parameter for fish stock assessment. Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries 6(2):221–242.
- Buckland, S. T., K. P. Burnham, and N. H. Augustin. 1997. Model selection: an integral part of inference. Biometrics 53(2):603–618.
- Burke B. J., W. T. Peterson, B. R. Beckman, C. Morgan, E. A. Daly, and M. Litz. 2013. Multivariate models of adult Pacific salmon returns. PLoS ONE 8(1):e54134.
- Burnham, K. P., and D. R. Anderson. 2002. Model selection and multi-model inference: a practical informationtheoretical approach. Second edition. Springer, Berlin, Germany.
- Cade, B. S. 2015. Model averaging and muddled multimodel inferences. Ecology 96(9):2370–2382.
- Claeskens, G., and N. L. Hjort. 2008. Model selection and model averaging. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- Clark, J. H., A. McGregor, R. D. Mecum, P. Krasnowski, and A. M. Carroll. 2006. The commercial salmon fishery in Alaska. Alaska Fishery Research Bulletin 12(1):1–146.
- Dormann, C. F., J. M Calabrese, G. Guillera-Arroita, E. Matechou, V. Bahn, K. Bartoń, C. M. Beale, S. Ciuti, J. Elith, K. Gerstner, J. Guelat, P. Keil, J. J. Lahoz-Monfort, L. J. Pollock, B. Reineking, D. R. Roberts, B. Schröder, W. Thuiller, D. I. Warton, B. A. Wintle, S. N. Wood, R. O. Wüest, and F. Hartig. 2018. Model averaging in ecology: a review of Bayesian, information-theoretic, and tactical approaches for predictive inference. Ecological Monographs 88(4):485–504.
- Durley, K. 1971. Pages 25–26 [In] M. C. Seibel, editor. A summary of preliminary 1972 forecasts for Alaskan salmon fisheries. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Informational Leaflet No. 155, Juneau.
- Durley, K. 1972. Pages 30–31 [*In*] M. C. Seibel, editor. A summary of preliminary 1973 forecasts for Alaskan salmon fisheries. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Informational Leaflet No. 160, Juneau.

- Durley, K. E. 1973a. Forecast of the 1973 pink salmon runs, Southeastern Alaska. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Technical Data Report No. 10, Juneau.
- Durley, K. E. 1973b. Forecast of the 1974 pink salmon runs, Southeastern Alaska. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Technical Data Report No. 12, Juneau.
- Durley, K. E. 1973c. Pages 27–29 [In] M. C. Seibel, editor. A summary of preliminary 1974 forecasts for Alaskan salmon fisheries. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Informational Leaflet No. 164, Juneau.
- Durley, K. E., and M. C. Seibel. 1972. Forecast of the 1972 pink salmon runs, Southeastern Alaska. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Informational Leaflet No. 158, Juneau.
- Farley Jr., E. V., J. M. Murphy, K. Cieciel, E. M. Yasumiishi, K. Dunmall, T. Sformo, and P. Rand. 2020. Response of pink salmon to climate warming in the northern Bering Sea. Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography 177:104830.
- Fletcher, D., and P. W. Dillingham. 2011. Model-averaged confidence intervals for factorial experiments. Computational Statistics and Data Analysis 55(11):3041–3048.
- Gwartney, L., K. Durley, C. Larson, and G. Downey. 1970. Pages 31–32 [In] M. C. Seibel, editor. A summary of preliminary 1971 forecasts for Alaskan salmon fisheries. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Informational Leaflet No. 149, Juneau.
- Geiger, H. J., and B. Frenette, editors. 1996. Run forecasts and harvest projections for 1996 Alaska salmon fisheries and review of the 1995 season: The short version. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Regional Information Report No. 5J96-05, Juneau.
- Haeseker, S. L., B. Dorner, R. M. Peterman, and Z. Su. 2007. An improved sibling model for forecasting chum salmon and sockeye salmon abundance. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 27(2):634–642.
- Haeseker, S. L., R. M. Peterman, Z. Su, and C. C. Wood. 2005. Retrospective evaluation of preseason forecasting models for pink salmon. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 25(3):897–918.
- Heard, W.R. 1991. Life history of pink salmon (Oncorhynchus gorbuscha). Pages 119–230 [In] C. Groot and L. Margolis, editors. Pacific salmon life histories. University of British Columbia Press, Vancouver, B.C.
- Heinl, S. 2008. Pages 41–44 [In] P. Nelson, M. D. Plotnick, and A. M. Carroll, editors. Run forecasts and harvest projections for 2008 Alaska salmon fisheries and review of the 2007 season. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Special Publication No. 08-09, Anchorage.
- Heinl, S. 2009. Pages 50–53 [In] E. C. Volk, M. D. Plotnick, and A. M. Carroll, editors. Run forecasts and harvest projections for 2009 Alaska salmon fisheries and review of the 2008 season. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Special Publication No. 09-07, Anchorage.
- Heinl, S., X. Zhang, and H. Geiger. 2004. Pages 46–49 [In] M. Plotnick, and D. M. Eggers, editors. Run forecasts and harvest projections for 2004 Alaska salmon fisheries and review of the 2003 season. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Regional Information Report No. 5J04-01, Juneau.
- Heinl, S., X. Zhang, and H. Geiger. 2005. Pages 46–47 [In] D. M. Eggers. Run forecasts and harvest projections for 2005 Alaska salmon fisheries and review of the 2004 season. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Special Publication No. 05-01, Anchorage.
- Heinl, S., X. Zhang, and H. Geiger. 2006. Pages 48–49 [In] D. M. Eggers. Run forecasts and harvest projections for 2006 Alaska salmon fisheries and review of the 2005 season. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Special Publication No. 06-07, Anchorage.
- Heinl, S., X. Zhang, and H. Geiger. 2007. Pages 48–51 [In] D. M. Eggers. Run forecasts and harvest projections for 2007 Alaska salmon fisheries and review of the 2006 season. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Special Publication No. 07-01, Anchorage.

- Heinl, S., A. Piston, and H. Shen. 2010. Pages 48–52 [In] D. M. Eggers, M. D. Plotnick, and A. M. Carroll editors. Run forecasts and harvest projections for 2010 Alaska salmon fisheries and review of the 2009 season. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Special Publication No. 10-02, Anchorage.
- Hilborn, R., and C. J. Walters. 1992. Quantitative Fisheries Stock Assessment. Chapman & Hall, London.
- Hjort, N. L., and G. Claeskens. 2003. Frequentist model average estimators. Journal of the American Statistical Association 98(464):879–899.
- Hoffman, T. C. 1965. Southeastern Alaska pink salmon forecast studies, pre-emergent fry program. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Informational Leaflet No. 47, Juneau.
- Hoffman, T. C. 1966. Southeastern Alaska pink salmon forecast studies, pre-emergent fry program, 1965. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Informational Leaflet No. 88, Juneau.
- Hofmeister, K. T. 1990. Pages 43–45 [In] H. J. Geiger, and H. Savikko, editors. Preliminary forecasts and projections for 1990 Alaska salmon fisheries. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Regional Information Report No. 5J90-03, Juneau.
- Hofmeister, K., and J. Blick. 1991. Pages 39–41 [In] H. J. Geiger, and H. Savikko, editors. 1991. Preliminary forecasts and projections for 1991 Alaska salmon fisheries and summary of the 1990 season. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Regional Information Report No. 5J91-01, Juneau.
- Hofmeister, K., and J. Blick. 1992. Pages 43–45 [*In*] H. J. Geiger, and H. Savikko, editors. Preliminary forecasts and projections for 1992 Alaska salmon fisheries and review of the 1991 season. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Regional Information Report No. 5J92-05, Juneau.
- Hofmeister, K., and J. Blick. 1993. Pages 43–45 [*In*] H. J. Geiger, and H. Savikko, editors. Preliminary forecasts and projections for 1993 Alaska salmon fisheries and review of the 1992 season. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Regional Information Report No. 5J93-04, Juneau.
- Hofmeister, K., and J. Blick. 1994. Pages 39–41 [*In*] H. J. Geiger, and E. Simpson, editors. Preliminary forecasts and projections for 1994 Alaska salmon fisheries and review of the 1993 season. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Regional Information Report No. 5J94-08, Juneau.
- Hofmeister, K., and J. Blick. 1995. Pages 39–41 [*In*] H. J. Geiger, and E. Simpson, editors. Preliminary forecasts and projections for 1995 Alaska salmon fisheries and review of the 1994 season. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Regional Information Report No. 5J95-01, Juneau.
- Hofmeister, K., and J. Blick. 1997. Pages 37–39 [In] H. J. Geiger, B. Frenette, and D. Hart, editors. Preliminary forecasts and projections for 1997 Alaska salmon fisheries and review of the 1996 season. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Regional Information Report No. 5J97-10, Juneau.
- Hofmeister, K., and J. Blick. 1998. Pages 37–39 [In] D. Hart, D. Petree, and H. J. Geiger, editors. 1998. Preliminary forecasts and harvest projections for 1998 Alaska salmon fisheries and review of the 1997 season. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Regional Information Report No. 5J98-04, Juneau.
- Hofmeister, K. T., and D. Jones. 1989. Pages 33–35 [In] H. J. Geiger, and H. Savikko, editors. Preliminary forecasts and projections for 1989 Alaska salmon fisheries. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Regional Information Report No. 5J89-01, Juneau.
- Huang, B., P. W. Thorne, V. F. Banzon, T. Boyer, G. Chepurin, J. H. Lawrimore, M. J. Menne, T. M. Smith, R. S. Vose, and H. M. Zhang. 2017. Extended reconstructed sea surface temperature, version 5 (ERSSTv5): upgrades, validations, and intercomparisons. Journal of Climate 30(20):8179–8205.
- Jones, D. 1979. Pages 21–22 [*In*] ADF&G. Preliminary forecasts and projections for 1979 Alaskan salmon fisheries. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Informational Leaflet No. 177, Juneau.

- Jones, D., and K. Hofmeister. 1980. Pages 20–22 [In] ADF&G. Preliminary forecasts and projections for 1980 Alaskan salmon fisheries. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Informational Leaflet No. 183, Juneau.
- Jones, D., and K. Hofmeister. 1981. Pages 18–20 [*In*] ADF&G. Preliminary forecasts and projections for 1981 Alaskan salmon fisheries. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Informational Leaflet No. 190, Juneau.
- Jones, D., and K. Hofmeister. 1982. Pages 18–20 [*In*] ADF&G. Preliminary forecasts and projections for 1982 Alaskan salmon fisheries. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Informational Leaflet No. 197, Juneau.
- Jones, D., and K. Hofmeister. 1983a. Pages 24–26 [In] ADF&G. Preliminary forecasts and projections for 1983 Alaskan salmon fisheries. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Informational Leaflet No. 209, Juneau.
- Jones, D., and K. Hofmeister. 1983b. Pages 25–27 [*In*] ADF&G. Preliminary forecasts and projections for 1984 Alaskan salmon fisheries. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Informational Leaflet No. 229, Juneau.
- Jones, J. D., and K. T. Hofmeister. 1985. Pages 29–31 [In] D. M. Eggers, editor. Preliminary forecasts and projections for 1985 Alaska salmon fisheries. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Informational Leaflet No. 244, Juneau.
- Jones, J. D., and K. T. Hofmeister. 1986. Pages 30–32 [In] D. M. Eggers, editor. Preliminary forecasts and projections for 1986 Alaskan salmon fisheries. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Informational Leaflet No. 253, Juneau.
- Jones J. D., and K. T. Hofmeister. 1987. Pages 30–32 [*In*] D. M. Eggers, and M. R. Dean, editors. Preliminary forecasts and projections for 1987 Alaska salmon fisheries. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Informational Leaflet No. 259, Juneau.
- Jones J. D., and K. T. Hofmeister. 1988. Pages 34–36 [In] D. M. Eggers, and M. R. Dean, editors. Preliminary forecasts and projections for 1988 Alaska salmon fisheries. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Regional Information Report No. 5J88-1, Juneau.
- Kingsbury, A. P. 1978. Pages 21–22 [In] ADF&G. Preliminary forecasts and projections for 1978 Alaskan salmon fisheries. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Informational Leaflet No. 173, Juneau.
- Kingsbury, A., and P. Larson. 1975. Pages 29–31 [In] M. C. Seibel and C. P. Meacham, editors. A summary of preliminary 1975 forecasts for Alaskan salmon fisheries. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Informational Leaflet No. 167, Juneau.
- Kingsbury, A. P., and P. R. Larson. 1976a. Forecast of the 1976 pink salmon returns to Southeastern Alaska. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Informational Leaflet No. 170, Juneau.
- Kingsbury, A., and P. Larson. 1976b. Pages 26–28 [In] D. L. Waltemyer, and S. C. Lindstrom, editors. A summary of preliminary 1976 forecasts for Alaskan salmon fisheries. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Informational Leaflet No. 169, Juneau.
- Kingsbury, A., and P. Larson. 1977. Pages 26–27 [In] J. A. Carson, J. A., and I. Frohne, editors. Preliminary forecasts and projections for 1977 Alaskan salmon fisheries. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Informational Leaflet No. 171, Juneau.
- Krkošek, M., R. Hilborn, R. M. Peterman, and T. P. Quinn. 2011. Cycles, stochasticity and density dependence in pink salmon population dynamics. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 278(1714):2060–2068.
- Lukacs, P. M., K. P. Burnham, and D. R. Anderson. 2010. Model selection bias and Freedman's paradox. Annals of the Institute of Statistical Mathematics 62(1):117–125.

- Madigan, D., and A. E. Raftery. 1994. Model selection and accounting for model uncertainty in graphical models using Occam's window. Journal of the American Statistical Association 89(428):1535–1546.
- McCormick, J. L., and M. R. Falcy. 2015. Evaluation of non-traditional modelling techniques for forecasting salmon returns. Fisheries Management and Ecology 22(4):269–278.
- Miller D. M. 1984. Reducing transformation bias in curve fitting. The American Statistician 38(2):124–126.
- Mortensen, D., A. Wertheimer, C. M. Taylor, and J. Landingham. 2000. The relation between early marine growth of pink salmon, *Oncorhynchus gorbuscha*, and marine water temperature, secondary production, and survival to adulthood. Fishery Bulletin 98(2):319–335.
- Murphy, J. M., A. L. J. Brase, and J. A. Orsi. 1999. Survey of juvenile Pacific salmon in the northern region of southeastern Alaska, May–October 1997. U.S. Department of Commerce, NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-AFSC-105.
- Murphy, J. M., E. A. Fergusson, A. Piston, S. Heinl, A. Gray, and E. Farley. 2019a. Southeast Alaska pink salmon growth and forecast models. NPAFC Technical Report 15:75–81. (Available at <a href="http://www.npafc.org">http://www.npafc.org</a>)
- Murphy, J. M., A. C. Wertheimer, E. Fergusson, A. Piston, S. Heinl, C. Waters, J. Watson, and A. Gray. 2019b. 2018 pink salmon harvest forecast models from Southeast Alaska coastal monitoring surveys. NPAFC Doc. 1848. 19 pp. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS), Alaska Fisheries Science Center, Auke Bay Laboratories, and Alaska Department of Fish and Game (Available at http://www.npafc.org)
- Nakatani, R. E., G. J. Paulik, and R. Van Cleve. 1975. Pink salmon, *Oncorhynchus gorbuscha*, tagging experiments in southeastern Alaska, 1938–1942 and 1945. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Marine Fisheries Service, Special Scientific Report, Fisheries Series 686, Seattle.
- Noerenberg, W. H. 1961. Observations on spawning and subsequent survival of fry of the 1960 salmon runs in Prince William Sound, Alaska. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Memorandum No. 5, Cordova, Alaska.
- Noerenberg, W. H. 1963. Salmon forecast studies on 1963 runs in Prince William Sound. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Informational Leaflet No. 21, Juneau.
- Noerenberg, W. H., R. S. Roys, T. C. Hoffman, A. T. Wright, and A. S. Davis. 1964. Forecast research on 1964 Alaskan pink salmon fisheries. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Informational Leaflet No. 36, Juneau.
- Orsi, J. A., J. M. Murphy, and A. L. J. Brase. 1997. Survey of juvenile salmon in the marine waters of southeastern Alaska, May–August 1997. (NPAFC Doc. 277) Auke Bay Laboratory, Alaska Fisheries Science Center, National Marine Fisheries Service, NOAA, U.S. Dept. Commerce, 11305 Glacier Highway, Juneau, AK 99801-8626, USA. (Available at http://www.npafc.org)
- Orsi, J. A., M. V. Sturdevant, J. M. Murphy, D. G. Mortensen, and B. L. Wing. 2000. Seasonal habitat use and early marine ecology of juvenile Pacific salmon in southeastern Alaska. North Pacific Anadromous Fish Commission Bulletin 2: 111–122. (Available at <u>www.npafc.org</u>)
- Orsi, J. A., M. V. Sturdevant, A. C. Wertheimer, B. L. Wing, J. M. Murphy, D. G. Mortensen, E. A. Fergusson, and B. K. Krauss. 2001. Survey of juvenile salmon in the marine waters of southeastern Alaska, May–September 2000. (NPAFC Doc. 536) Auke Bay Laboratory, Alaska Fisheries Science Center, National Marine Fisheries Service, NOAA, U.S. Department of Commerce, 11305 Glacier Highway, Juneau, AK 99801-8626, USA. (Available at www.npafc.org)
- Orsi, J. A., E. A. Fergusson, M. V. Sturdevant, B. L. Wing, A. C. Wertheimer, and W. R. Heard. 2005. Survey of juvenile salmon and associated epipelagic ichthyofauna in the marine waters of southeastern Alaska, May–August 2004. (NPAFC Doc. 871) Auke Bay Laboratory, Alaska Fisheries Science Center, National Marine Fisheries Service, NOAA, U.S. Department of Commerce, 11305 Glacier Highway, Juneau, AK 99801-8626, USA. (Available at <u>www.npafc.org</u>)

- Orsi, J. A., E. A. Fergusson, M. V. Sturdevant, B. L. Wing, A. C. Wertheimer, and W. R. Heard. 2006. Annual survey of juvenile salmon and ecologically-related species in the marine waters of southeastern Alaska, May–August 2005. (NPAFC Doc. 955) Auke Bay Lab., Alaska Fisheries Science Center, National Marine Fisheries Service, NOAA, 11305 Glacier Highway, Juneau, AK 99801-8626, USA. (Available at <u>www.npafc.org</u>)
- Orsi, J. A., E. A. Fergusson, M.V. Sturdevant, B. L. Wing, A. C. Wertheimer, and W. R. Heard. 2009. Annual survey of juvenile salmon, ecologically-related species, and environmental factors in the marine waters of southeastern Alaska, May–August 2008. (NPAFC Doc. 1181) Auke Bay Lab, Alaska Fisheries Science Center, National Marine Fisheries Service, NOAA, 11305 Glacier Highway, Juneau, AK 99801-8626, USA. (Available at http://www.npafc.org)
- Orsi, J. A., E. A. Fergusson, M. V. Sturdevant, W. R. Heard, and E. V. Farley, Jr. 2012. Annual survey of juvenile salmon, ecologically-related species, and biophysical factors in the marine waters of southeastern Alaska, May– August 2011. (NPAFC Doc.1428, Rev. 1) Auke Bay Lab., Alaska Fisheries Science Center, National Marine Fisheries Service, NOAA, NMFS, 17109 Point Lena Loop Road, Juneau, 99801, USA. (Available at http://www.npafc.org)
- Orsi, J. A., E. A. Fergusson, A. C. Wertheimer, E. V. Farley, Jr., and P. R. Mundy 2016. Forecasting pink salmon production in Southeast Alaska using ecosystem indicators in times of climate change. North Pacific Anadromous Fish Commission Bulletin 6:483–499. (Available at http://www.npafc.org)
- Ovando, D., C. J. Cunningham, P. Kuriyama, C. Boatright, and R. Hilborn. 2022. Improving forecasts of sockeye salmon (*Oncorhynchus nerka*) with parametric and non-parametric models. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 79(8):1198–1210.
- Parker, R. R. 1968. Marine mortality schedules of pink salmon of the Bella Coola River, central British Columbia. Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada 25(4):757–794.
- Patterson, K. R. 1999. Evaluating uncertainty in harvest control law catches using Bayesian Markov chain Monte Carlo virtual population analysis with adaptive rejection sampling and including structural uncertainty. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 56(2):208–221.
- Piston, A., and S. Heinl. 2011. Pages 48–51 [*In*] D. M. Eggers, and A. M. Carroll, editors. Run forecasts and harvest projections for 2011 Alaska salmon fisheries and review of the 2010 season. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Special Publication No. 11-03, Anchorage.
- Piston, A., and S. Heinl. 2012. Pages 48–51 [In] D. M. Eggers, and A. M. Carroll, editors. Run forecasts and harvest projections for 2012 Alaska salmon fisheries and review of the 2011 season. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Special Publication No. 12-01, Anchorage.
- Piston, A., and S. Heinl. 2013. Pages 50–53 [*In*] D. M. Eggers, C. Tide, and A. M. Carroll, editors. 2013. Run forecasts and harvest projections for 2013 Alaska salmon fisheries and review of the 2012 season. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Special Publication No. 13-03, Anchorage.
- Piston, A., and S. Heinl. 2014. Pages 50–54 [*In*] A. R. Munro, and C. Tide, editors. Run forecasts and harvest projections for 2014 Alaska salmon fisheries and review of the 2013 season. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Special Publication No. 14-10, Anchorage.
- Piston, A., and S. Heinl. 2015. Pages 50–53 [In] A. R. Munro, editor. Run forecasts and harvest projections for 2015 Alaska salmon fisheries and review of the 2014 season. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Special Publication No. 15-04, Anchorage.
- Piston, A., and S. Heinl. 2016. Pages 50–53 [*In*] R. E. Brenner, and A. R. Munro, editors. Run forecasts and harvest projections for 2016 Alaska salmon fisheries and review of the 2015 season. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Special Publication No. 16-07, Anchorage.
- Piston, A., and S. Heinl. 2017. Pages 48–51 [*In*] R. E. Brenner, and A. R. Munro, editors. Run forecasts and harvest projections for 2017 Alaska salmon fisheries and review of the 2016 season. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Special Publication No. 17-08, Anchorage.

- Piston, A., and S. Heinl. 2018. Pages 48–50 [In] R. E. Brenner, A. R. Munro, and J. C. Shriver, editors. Run forecasts and harvest projections for 2018 Alaska salmon fisheries and review of the 2017 season. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Special Publication No. 18-09, Anchorage.
- Piston, A. W., and S. C. Heinl. 2020. Pink salmon stock status and escapement goals in Southeast Alaska through 2019. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Special Publication No. 20-09, Anchorage.
- Piston, A., S. Heinl, S. Miller, R. Brenner, J. Murphy, J. Watson, A. Gray, and E. Fergusson. 2019. Pages 46–49 [*In*] R. E. Brenner, A. R. Munro, and S. J. Larsen, editors. Run forecasts and harvest projections for 2019 Alaska salmon fisheries and review of the 2018 season. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Special Publication No. 19-07, Anchorage.
- Piston, A., S. Heinl, S. Miller, R. Brenner, J. Murphy, J. Watson, A. Gray, and E. Fergusson. 2020. Pages 42–45 [*In*] R. E. Brenner, S. J. Larsen, A. R. Munro, and A. M. Carroll, editors. 2020. Run forecasts and harvest projections for 2020 Alaska salmon fisheries and review of the 2019 season. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Special Publication No. 20-06, Anchorage.
- Piston, A., S. Heinl, S. Miller, R. Brenner, J. Murphy, J. Moss, W. Strasburger, E. Fergusson, and A. Gray. 2021a. Pages 42–45 [*In*] R. E. Brenner, S. J. Larsen, A. R. Munro, and A. M. Carroll, editors. Run forecasts and harvest projections for 2021 Alaska salmon fisheries and review of the 2020 season. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Special Publication No. 21-07, Anchorage.
- Piston, A. W., J. Murphy, J. Moss, W. Strasburger, S. C. Heinl, E. Fergusson, S. Miller, A. Gray, and C. Waters. 2021b. Operational Plan: Southeast coastal monitoring, 2021. ADF&G, Regional Operational Plan No. ROP.CF.1J.2021.02, Douglas.
- Piston, A., S. Heinl, S. Miller, R. Brenner, J. Murphy, J. Moss, W. Strasburger, E. Fergusson, and A. Gray. 2022. Pages 45–48 [*In*] R. E. Brenner, S. J. Donnellan, and A. R. Munro, editors. Run forecasts and harvest projections for 2022 Alaska salmon fisheries and review of the 2021 season. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Special Publication No. 22-11, Anchorage.
- Quinn, T.J. and R. B. Deriso. 1999. Quantitative fish dynamics. Oxford University Press. New York.
- Radchenko, V. 2020. Lost in the Ocean: Where have pink salmon been during our quest for salmon in the Gulf of Alaska? Pages 4–11 [*In*] North Pacific Anadromous Fish Commission Newsletter No. 47, January 2020.
- Ruggerone, G. T., M. Zimmermann, K. W. Myers, J. L. Nielsen, and D. E. Rogers. 2003. Competition between Asian pink salmon (*Oncorhynchus gorbuscha*) and Alaskan sockeye salmon (*O. nerka*) in the North Pacific Ocean. Fisheries Oceanography 12(3):209–219.
- Shevlyakov, E. A., and M. V. Koval. 2012. Forecast and production dynamics of the pink salmon of Kamchatka. North Pacific Anadromous Fish Commission Technical Report 8:121–125. (Available at <u>www.npafc.org</u>)
- Smedley, S. C., and M. C. Seibel. 1967. Forecast of 1967 pink salmon runs in southeastern Alaska. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Informational Leaflet No. 103, Juneau.
- Smedley, S. C., K. E. Durley, and M. J. McHugh. 1968. Forecast of 1968 pink salmon runs in southeastern Alaska. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Informational Leaflet No. 118, Juneau.
- Valentine, J., S. Smedley, K. Durley, M. McHugh, C. Larson, L. Gwartney, and G. Downey. 1969. Pages 29–31 [*In*] W. H. Noerenberg, and M. C. Seibel, editors. A summary of preliminary 1970 salmon forecasts for Alaskan fisheries. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Informational Leaflet No. 136, Juneau.
- Valentine, J. P., L. A. Gwartney, C. C. Larson, and G. D. Downey. 1970. Forecast of the 1970 pink salmon runs, southeastern Alaska. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Informational Leaflet No. 142, Juneau.
- Wertheimer, A. C., J. A. Orsi, E. A. Fergusson, and M. V. Sturdevant. 2008. Paired comparisons of juvenile salmon catches between two research vessels fishing Nordic 264 surface trawls in southeastern Alaska, July 2007. NPAFC Document 1112. (Available at <u>http://www.npafc.org</u>)

- Wertheimer, A.C., J.A. Orsi, E.A. Fergusson, and M. V. Sturdevant. 2009a. Forecasting pink salmon harvest in Southeast Alaska from juvenile salmon abundance and associated environmental parameters: 2008 returns and 2009 forecast. NPAFC Document 1202. (Available at <u>http://www.npafc.org</u>)
- Wertheimer, A. C., J. A. Orsi, E. A. Fergusson, and M. V. Sturdevant. 2009b. Calibration of juvenile salmon catches using paired comparisons between two research vessels fishing Nordic 264 surface trawls in Southeastern Alaska, July 2008. NPAFC Doc. 1180. (Available at <u>http://www.npafc.org</u>)
- Wertheimer, A. C., J. A. Orsi, E. A. Fergusson, and M. V. Sturdevant. 2010a. Forecasting pink salmon harvest in Southeast Alaska from juvenile salmon abundance and associated environmental parameters: 2009 Harvest and 2010 Forecast. NPAFC Doc. 1278. (Available at <u>http://www.npafc.org</u>)
- Wertheimer, A. C., J. A. Orsi, E. A. Fergusson, and M. V. Sturdevant. 2010b. Calibration of juvenile salmon catches using paired comparisons between two research vessels fishing Nordic 264 surface trawls in Southeast Alaska, July 2009. NPAFC Doc. 1177. (Available at <u>http://www.npafc.org</u>)
- Wertheimer, A. C., J. A. Orsi, E. A. Fergusson, and M. V. Sturdevant. 2011. Forecasting pink salmon harvest in Southeast Alaska from juvenile salmon abundance and associated environmental parameters: 2010 Returns and 2011 Forecast. NPAFC Doc. 1343. (Available at <u>http://www.npafc.org</u>)
- Wertheimer, A. C., J. A. Orsi, E. A. Fergusson, and M. V. Sturdevant. 2012. Forecasting pink salmon harvest in Southeast Alaska from juvenile salmon abundance and associated biophysical parameters: 2011 returns and 2012 forecast. NPAFC Doc. 1414, Rev. 1. (Available at <u>http://www.npafc.org</u>)
- Wertheimer, A. C., J. A. Orsi, E. A. Fergusson, and M. V. Sturdevant. 2013. Forecasting pink salmon harvest in Southeast Alaska from juvenile salmon abundance and associated environmental parameters: 2012 Returns and 2013 Forecast. NPAFC Doc. 1486 24 pp. (Available at <u>http://www.npafc.org</u>)
- Wertheimer, A. C., J. A. Orsi, E. A. Fergusson, and M. V. Sturdevant. 2014. Forecasting pink salmon harvest in southeast Alaska from juvenile salmon abundance and associated biophysical parameters: 2013 returns and 2014 forecast. NPAFC Doc. 1555. (Available at <u>http://www.npafc.org</u>)
- Wertheimer, A. C., J. A. Orsi, and E. A. Fergusson. 2015. Forecasting pink salmon harvest in southeast Alaska from juvenile salmon abundance and associated biophysical parameters: 2014 returns and 2015 forecast. NPAFC Doc. 1618. (Available at <u>http://www.npafc.org</u>)
- Wertheimer, A.C., J.A. Orsi, and E.A. Fergusson. 2017. Forecasting pink salmon harvest in southeast Alaska from juvenile salmon abundance and associated biophysical parameters: 2015 returns and 2016 forecast. NPAFC Doc. 1740. (Available at <u>http://www.npafc.org</u>)
- Wertheimer, A. C., J. A. Orsi, E. A. Fergusson, and J. M. Murphy. 2018. Forecasting pink salmon harvest in Southeast Alaska from juvenile salmon abundance and associated biophysical parameters: 2016 returns and 2017 forecast. NPAFC Doc. 1772. (Available at <u>http://www.npafc.org</u>)
- Willette, M. 2000. Pages 40–41 [In] R. Scott, and H. J. Geiger, editors. Run forecasts and harvest projections for 2000 Alaska salmon fisheries and review of the 1999 season. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Regional Information Report No. 5J00-04, Juneau.
- Willette, T. M., R. T. Cooney, V. Patrick, D. M. Mason, G. I. Thomas, and D. Scheel. 2001. Ecological processes influencing mortality of juvenile pink salmon (*Oncorhynchus gorbuscha*) in Prince William Sound, Alaska. Fisheries Oceanography 10(1):14–41.
- Wintle, B. A., M. A. McCarthy, C. T. Volinsky, and R. P. Kavanagh. 2003. The use of Bayesian model averaging to better represent uncertainty in ecological models. Conservation Biology 17(6):1579–1590.
- Zadina, T. 2001. Pages 38–39 [In] H. J. Geiger, and M. McNair, editors. Run forecasts and harvest projections for 2001 Alaska salmon fisheries and review of the 2000 season. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Regional Information Report No. 5J01-03, Juneau.

- Zadina, T. 2002. Pages 40–41 [*In*] D. M. Eggers, editor. Run forecasts and harvest projections for 2002 Alaska salmon fisheries and review of the 2001 season. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Regional Information Report No. 5J02-01, Juneau.
- Zadina, T. 2003. Pages 41–43 [*In*] D. M. Eggers, editor. Run forecasts and harvest projections for 2003 Alaska salmon fisheries and review of the 2002 season. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Regional Information Report No. 5J03-01, Juneau.
- Zadina, T., and J. Blick. 1999. Pages 37–38 [*In*] H. J. Geiger, and D. Hart, editors. Run forecasts and harvest projections for 1999 Alaska salmon fisheries and review of the 1998 season. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Regional Information Report No. 5J99-06, Juneau.
- Zhou, S., 2003. Application of artificial neural networks for forecasting salmon escapement. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 23(1):48–59.

# **TABLES AND FIGURES**

		Icy	Strait			Chathar	n Strait		Nor	thern Sou	theast Ala	iska		Southe	ast Alaska	
Year	MJJ	May	AMJJ	AMJ	MJJ	May	AMJJ	AMJ	MJJ	May	AMJJ	AMJ	MJJ	May	AMJJ	AMJ
1997	10.30	7.01	8.83	7.30	10.08	7.48	8.83	7.59	10.02	7.35	8.71	7.40	10.47	8.00	9.20	7.99
1998	9.97	7.34	8.85	7.56	9.85	7.83	8.91	7.88	9.89	7.65	8.85	7.71	10.36	8.37	9.38	8.37
1999	9.08	6.17	8.02	6.78	8.90	6.84	8.05	7.12	8.93	6.70	7.98	6.95	9.30	7.23	8.40	7.43
2000	9.94	7.02	8.67	7.35	9.70	7.34	8.62	7.52	9.70	7.23	8.57	7.39	10.02	7.71	8.95	7.86
2001	9.57	6.48	8.40	7.08	9.15	6.74	8.18	7.12	9.22	6.66	8.17	7.01	9.51	7.10	8.52	7.45
2002	9.34	6.26	8.02	6.60	8.97	6.39	7.85	6.64	9.05	6.39	7.88	6.61	9.44	6.92	8.33	7.14
2003	10.08	7.29	8.88	7.53	9.92	7.71	8.90	7.85	9.86	7.57	8.76	7.60	10.32	8.17	9.25	8.16
2004	10.68	7.53	9.25	7.69	10.43	7.94	9.22	7.96	10.38	7.89	9.09	7.79	10.98	8.58	9.74	8.51
2005	11.16	8.40	9.64	8.26	10.67	8.51	9.48	8.44	10.63	8.42	9.35	8.26	11.06	8.92	9.83	8.82
2006	10.19	6.84	8.86	7.49	9.78	7.16	8.68	7.58	9.72	6.98	8.55	7.36	10.19	7.63	9.07	7.96
2007	9.49	6.55	8.16	6.87	9.52	7.04	8.41	7.27	9.44	6.90	8.24	7.03	9.99	7.51	8.82	7.64
2008	8.85	6.43	7.72	6.68	8.65	6.77	7.69	6.83	8.65	6.64	7.63	6.74	9.18	7.22	8.17	7.28
2009	9.94	7.19	8.47	7.22	9.75	7.30	8.46	7.35	9.77	7.32	8.40	7.24	10.20	7.76	8.85	7.73
2010	9.87	7.71	8.68	7.81	9.65	7.97	8.66	7.93	9.62	7.76	8.54	7.72	10.09	8.28	9.05	8.23
2011	9.84	6.81	8.47	7.18	9.59	7.31	8.49	7.55	9.67	7.25	8.44	7.44	10.05	7.74	8.88	7.92
2012	9.23	6.92	8.10	7.07	9.17	7.07	8.18	7.22	9.14	6.95	8.09	7.10	9.68	7.47	8.63	7.61
2013	9.88	6.37	8.45	6.97	9.66	6.74	8.44	7.21	9.67	6.59	8.36	7.04	10.39	7.51	9.10	7.85
2014	10.23	7.90	8.81	7.62	9.98	8.17	8.76	7.77	10.03	8.15	8.70	7.64	10.57	8.62	9.26	8.17
2015	10.73	8.34	9.43	8.29	10.62	8.87	9.55	8.73	10.81	8.92	9.56	8.65	11.43	9.64	10.21	9.32
2016	11.65	8.81	10.37	9.14	11.04	8.92	10.03	9.07	11.18	8.92	10.05	9.00	11.67	9.61	10.59	9.59
2017	9.82	7.22	8.66	7.51	9.65	7.65	8.70	7.76	9.82	7.75	8.77	7.78	10.31	8.25	9.28	8.29
2018	9.99	6.92	8.74	7.43	9.87	7.40	8.75	7.61	10.11	7.53	8.86	7.63	10.79	8.28	9.54	8.30
2019	10.74	7.79	9.51	8.10	10.47	8.24	9.46	8.35	10.87	8.42	9.65	8.44	11.46	9.01	10.25	9.05
2020	10.40	7.83	9.05	7.86	9.99	8.09	8.84	7.86	10.23	8.26	8.98	7.94	10.70	8.90	9.52	8.53
2021	10.26	6.91	8.91	7.47	10.06	7.25	8.90	7.63	10.23	7.29	8.96	7.65	10.82	7.97	9.58	8.31

Table 1.–Satellite sea surface temperature data (°C) from the Icy Strait region, Chatham Strait region, northern Southeast Alaska region, and Southeast Alaska region for May, May through July (MJJ), April through June (AMJ), and April through July (AMJJ).

Year	ISTI	CPUE	Year	Harvest
1997	9.28	2.48	1998	42.4
1998	9.4	5.62	1999	77.8
1999	8.56	1.6	2000	20.2
2000	8.77	3.73	2001	67
2001	9.03	2.87	2002	45.3
2002	8.2	2.78	2003	52.5
2003	9.31	3.08	2004	45.3
2004	9.33	3.9	2005	59.1
2005	10.21	2.04	2006	11.6
2006	8.75	2.58	2007	44.8
2007	8.94	1.17	2008	15.9
2008	7.91	2.32	2009	38
2009	9.36	2.33	2010	24.1
2010	9.35	4.11	2011	58.9
2011	8.65	1.51	2012	21.3
2012	8.48	3.52	2013	94.7
2013	8.83	2.14	2014	37.2
2014	9.12	3.8	2015	35.1
2015	9.61	2.45	2016	18.4
2016	10.2	4.35	2017	34.7
2017	8.56	0.35	2018	8.1
2018	8.92	1.17	2019	21.1
2019	9.91	1.14	2020	8.1
2020	8.89	2.15	2021	48.5
2021	8.89	0.88	2022	NA

Table 2.–Annual adult pink salmon harvest data from Southeast Alaska (millions of fish), 1998–2022, compared to ISTI temperature (°C) and juvenile pink salmon CPUE data collected from the SECM project in the prior year, 1997–2021. The ISTI variable is the Icy Strait temperature index.

Table 3.–Summary of model outputs including adjusted R-squared, one-step-ahead mean absolute percent error (MAPE; based on the last 5 and 10 years), inverse variance weighting (scaled to sum to one), equal weighting (scaled to sum to one), and the 2022 Southeast Alaska pink salmon harvest forecast. The biophysical variables (terms) included SECM survey juvenile abundance data (CPUE) and temperature index data (Icy Strait temperature index [ISTI]) from 8 stations in Icy and Chatham Straits, and May through July satellite-derived sea surface temperature (SST) data summarized across 4 geographical areas and 4 time strata.

					Inverse		2022 forecast (bias-
			One-step-	One-step-	variance	Equal-	corrected) with 80%
			ahead MAPE	ahead MAPE	weighting	weighting	prediction interval in
	Terms (letters in parentheses represent	_	based on the	based on the	(scaled to	(scaled to	parentheses
Model	consecutive spring/summer months)	Adjusted R <sup>2</sup>	last 5 years	last 10 years	sum to one)	sum to one)	(millions of fish)
m1	CPUE	0.59	79%	63%	0.03	0.06	16.5 (9.1–30.2)
m2	CPUE, ISTI	0.81	40%	37%	0.07	0.06	15.6 (10.3–23.6)
m3	CPUE, Chatham SST (May)	0.79	33%	25%	0.05	0.06	16.4 (10.6–25.4)
m4	CPUE, Chatham SST (MJJ)	0.74	44%	37%	0.06	0.06	13.3 (8.2–21.7)
m5	CPUE, Chatham SST (AMJ)	0.79	30%	28%	0.07	0.06	14.9 (9.7–22.9)
m6	CPUE, Chatham SST (AMJJ)	0.77	34%	30%	0.07	0.06	13.4 (8.5–21.1)
m7	CPUE, Icy Strait SST (May)	0.77	33%	24%	0.05	0.06	15.9 (10.1–25.0)
m8	CPUE, Icy Strait SST (MJJ)	0.73	42%	37%	0.05	0.06	13.8 (8.4–22.6)
m9	CPUE, Icy Strait SST (AMJ)	0.76	34%	27%	0.05	0.06	14.4 (9.0–22.8)
m10	CPUE, Icy Strait SST (AMJJ)	0.75	34%	32%	0.06	0.06	13.6 (8.4–22.0)
m11	CPUE, NSEAK SST (May)	0.78	31%	24%	0.05	0.06	16.3 (10.4–25.4)
m12	CPUE, NSEAK SST (MJJ)	0.75	37%	31%	0.05	0.06	13.2 (8.1–21.3)
m13	CPUE, NSEAK SST (AMJ)	0.78	28%	27%	0.06	0.06	14.3 (9.2–22.3)
m14	CPUE, NSEAK SST (AMJJ)	0.77	29%	27%	0.06	0.06	13.2 (8.3–20.9)
m15	CPUE, SEAK SST (May)	0.76	34%	28%	0.04	0.06	15.7 (9.9–25.0)
m16	CPUE, SEAK SST (MJJ)	0.73	41%	34%	0.05	0.06	13.1 (8.0–21.5)
m17	CPUE, SEAK SST (AMJ)	0.77	30%	30%	0.06	0.06	13.9 (8.8–22.0)
m18	CPUE, SEAK SST (AMJJ)	0.75	33%	29%	0.06	0.06	13.0 (8.1–21.0)
m19	inverse-variance weighted model-averaged forecast	ND	32%	27%	ND	ND	13.6 (6.5–28.3) <sup>ab</sup>
m20	equally weighted model-averaged forecast	ND	33%	28%	ND	ND	13.6 (6.5–28.6) <sup>ab</sup>

*Note*: ND = no data

<sup>a</sup> 80% confidence interval

<sup>b</sup> not bias-corrected

Table 4.–Forecast performance of the individual multiple regression models based on juvenile pink salmon CPUE and a temperature index (models m1 through m3). Observed harvest is the Southeast Alaska pink salmon harvest (millions of fish). Forecast performance (2012–2021) is expressed as the percent deviation from the observed Southeast Alaska harvest. Positive values indicate the forecast was higher than actual and negative values indicate the forecast was lower than actual. Forecasts are bias-corrected. The performance metric MAPE is the one-step-ahead mean absolute percent error.

Veen	Madal	Harvest	Famaaat	Forecast	Absolute	MADE
2012	model	(observed) 21.28	22.87	performance 7%	1 59	
2012	m1	94 72	51.46	-46%	1.55	770 46%
2013	m1	37.17	30.42		6.76	18%
2014		37.17	62.27	-1870	0.70	780/
2015	1111 m 1	19 27	34.80	/ 0 / 0	16.42	/ 0 / 0
2010	1111 m 1	24.72	72 44	8970 1110/	29.71	0970 1110/
2017	1111 m 1	9 07	15 55	029/	7.40	029/
2010	1111 m 1	0.07	19.03	9370 109/	7.49	9378 109/
2019	1111 m 1	21.14	10.93	-10/6	11.02	1078
2020	1111 m 1	8.00 48.50	19.08	13770	20.06	13770
2021	1111 m2	40.30	27.54	-43 /0	20.90	4370
2012	1112	21.28	24.31	1370	3.23 20.72	210/
2013	1112	94.72	20.26	-31/0	29.73	190/
2014	1112 m 2	37.17	50.30	-18%	0.01	1070
2013		19.27	24.24	08%	23.73	220/
2016	m2	18.37	24.24	32%	5.80	32%
2017	m2	34.73	41.11	18%	0.38	18%
2018	m2	8.07	15.64	94%	1.57	94%
2019	m2	21.14	16.76	-21%	4.38	21%
2020	m2	8.06	10.18	26%	2.11	26%
2021	m2	48.50	28.13	-42%	20.37	42%
2012	m3	21.28	20.14	-5%	1.14	5%
2013	m3	94.72	60.03	-37%	34.69	37%
2014	m3	37.17	37.03	0%	0.15	0%
2015	m3	35.09	43.62	24%	8.52	24%
2016	m3	18.37	14.92	-19%	3.45	19%
2017	m3	34.73	40.79	17%	6.06	17%
2018	m3	8.07	10.08	25%	2.01	25%
2019	m3	21.14	16.28	-23%	4.86	23%
2020	m3	8.06	11.15	38%	3.08	38%
2021	m3	48.50	19.00	-61%	29.51	61%

Table 5.–Forecast performance of the individual multiple regression models based on juvenile pink salmon CPUE and a temperature index (models m4 through m6). Observed harvest is the Southeast Alaska pink salmon harvest (millions of fish). Forecast performance (2012–2021) is expressed as the percent deviation from the observed Southeast Alaska harvest. Positive values indicate the forecast was higher than actual and negative values indicate the forecast was lower than actual. Forecasts are bias-corrected. The performance metric MAPE is the one-step-ahead mean absolute percent error.

		Harvest		Forecast	Absolute	
Year	Model	(observed)	Forecast	performance	deviation	MAPE
2012	m4	21.28	21.80	2%	0.52	2%
2013	m4	94.72	60.19	-36%	34.53	36%
2014	m4	37.17	28.66	-23%	8.51	23%
2015	m4	35.09	55.82	59%	20.72	59%
2016	m4	18.37	23.23	26%	4.86	26%
2017	m4	34.73	43.45	25%	8.71	25%
2018	m4	8.07	13.11	62%	5.04	62%
2019	m4	21.14	15.66	-26%	5.48	26%
2020	m4	8.06	12.45	54%	4.39	54%
2021	m4	48.50	23.56	-51%	24.95	51%
2012	m5	21.28	19.67	-8%	1.60	8%
2013	m5	94.72	60.53	-36%	34.19	36%
2014	m5	37.17	32.77	-12%	4.40	12%
2015	m5	35.09	55.64	59%	20.55	59%
2016	m5	18.37	16.35	-11%	2.02	11%
2017	m5	34.73	35.44	2%	0.70	2%
2018	m5	8.07	10.70	33%	2.63	33%
2019	m5	21.14	16.15	-24%	4.99	24%
2020	m5	8.06	11.22	39%	3.15	39%
2021	m5	48.50	22.85	-53%	25.65	53%
2012	m6	21.28	21.42	1%	0.14	1%
2013	m6	94.72	61.26	-35%	33.46	35%
2014	m6	37.17	29.95	-19%	7.22	19%
2015	m6	35.09	58.20	66%	23.11	66%
2016	m6	18.37	20.67	12%	2.29	12%
2017	m6	34.73	38.25	10%	3.52	10%
2018	m6	8.07	11.62	44%	3.56	44%
2019	m6	21.14	15.46	-27%	5.68	27%
2020	m6	8.06	11.17	38%	3.10	38%
2021	m6	48.50	23.95	-51%	24.56	51%

Table 6.–Forecast performance of the individual multiple regression models based on juvenile pink salmon CPUE and a temperature index (models m7 through m9). Observed harvest is the Southeast Alaska pink salmon harvest (millions of fish). Forecast performance (2012–2021) is expressed as the percent deviation from the observed Southeast Alaska harvest. Positive values indicate the forecast was higher than actual and negative values indicate the forecast was lower than actual. Forecasts are bias-corrected. The performance metric MAPE is the one-step-ahead mean absolute percent error.

		Harvest		Forecast	Absolute	
Year	Model	(observed)	Forecast	performance	deviation	MAPE
2012	m'/	21.28	21.65	2%	0.37	2%
2013	m7	94.72	54.84	-42%	39.88	42%
2014	m7	37.17	36.51	-2%	0.66	2%
2015	m7	35.09	44.37	26%	9.27	26%
2016	m7	18.37	17.69	-4%	0.69	4%
2017	m7	34.73	38.09	10%	3.36	10%
2018	m7	8.07	10.29	28%	2.22	28%
2019	m7	21.14	17.00	-20%	4.14	20%
2020	m7	8.06	11.59	44%	3.52	44%
2021	m7	48.50	18.22	-62%	30.28	62%
2012	m8	21.28	21.95	3%	0.68	3%
2013	m8	94.72	61.88	-35%	32.84	35%
2014	m8	37.17	29.01	-22%	8.16	22%
2015	m8	35.09	55.95	59%	20.85	59%
2016	m8	18.37	25.21	37%	6.83	37%
2017	m8	34.73	39.06	12%	4.33	12%
2018	m8	8.07	13.46	67%	5.39	67%
2019	m8	21.14	16.54	-22%	4.61	22%
2020	m8	8.06	12.59	56%	4.53	56%
2021	m8	48.50	22.04	-55%	26.46	55%
2012	m9	21.28	21.31	0%	0.03	0%
2013	m9	94.72	59.19	-38%	35.53	38%
2014	m9	37.17	33.15	-11%	4.02	11%
2015	m9	35.09	54.55	55%	19.45	55%
2016	m9	18.37	18.39	0%	0.01	0%
2017	m9	34.73	29.26	-16%	5.48	16%
2018	m9	8.07	10.41	29%	2.35	29%
2019	m9	21.14	15.47	-27%	5.67	27%
2020	m9	8.06	11.33	40%	3.26	40%
2021	m9	48.50	20.30	-58%	28.21	58%

Table 7.–Forecast performance of the individual multiple regression models based on juvenile pink salmon CPUE and a temperature index (models m10 through m12). Observed harvest is the Southeast Alaska pink salmon harvest (millions of fish). Forecast performance (2012–2021) is expressed as the percent deviation from the observed Southeast Alaska harvest. Positive values indicate the forecast was higher than actual and negative values indicate the forecast was lower than actual. Forecasts are biascorrected. The performance metric MAPE is the one-step-ahead mean absolute percent error.

		Harvest		Forecast	Absolute	
Year	Model	(observed)	Forecast	performance	deviation	MAPE
2012	m10	21.28	21.97	3%	0.70	3%
2013	m10	94.72	62.67	-34%	32.05	34%
2014	m10	37.17	30.15	-19%	7.02	19%
2015	m10	35.09	58.18	66%	23.09	66%
2016	m10	18.37	22.95	25%	4.58	25%
2017	m10	34.73	34.07	-2%	0.67	2%
2018	m10	8.07	11.89	47%	3.82	47%
2019	m10	21.14	15.66	-26%	5.48	26%
2020	m10	8.06	11.32	40%	3.25	40%
2021	m10	48.50	21.96	-55%	26.55	55%
2012	m11	21.28	19.78	-7%	1.50	7%
2013	m11	94.72	60.26	-36%	34.46	36%
2014	m11	37.17	38.14	3%	0.97	3%
2015	m11	35.09	41.22	17%	6.12	17%
2016	m11	18.37	13.76	-25%	4.62	25%
2017	m11	34.73	39.53	14%	4.79	14%
2018	m11	8.07	9.44	17%	1.38	17%
2019	m11	21.14	15.04	-29%	6.10	29%
2020	m11	8.06	10.48	30%	2.42	30%
2021	m11	48.50	17.56	-64%	30.94	64%
2012	m12	21.28	20.95	-2%	0.33	2%
2013	m12	94.72	61.66	-35%	33.06	35%
2014	m12	37.17	28.30	-24%	8.87	24%
2015	m12	35.09	54.11	54%	19.02	54%
2016	m12	18.37	20.60	12%	2.22	12%
2017	m12	34.73	40.06	15%	5.33	15%
2018	m12	8.07	12.06	50%	3.99	50%
2019	m12	21.14	14.13	-33%	7.02	33%
2020	m12	8.06	10.75	33%	2.69	33%
2021	m12	48.50	21.70	-55%	26.80	55%

Table 8.–Forecast performance of the individual multiple regression models based on juvenile pink salmon CPUE and a temperature index (models m13 through m15). Observed harvest is the Southeast Alaska pink salmon harvest (millions of fish). Forecast performance (2012–2021) is expressed as the percent deviation from the observed Southeast Alaska harvest. Positive values indicate the forecast was higher than actual and negative values indicate the forecast was lower than actual. Forecasts are biascorrected. The performance metric MAPE is the one-step-ahead mean absolute percent error.

		Harvest		Forecast	Absolute	
Year	Model	(observed)	Forecast	performance	deviation	MAPE
2012	m13	21.28	18.73	-12%	2.55	12%
2013	m13	94.72	60.49	-36%	34.23	36%
2014	m13	37.17	33.39	-10%	3.79	10%
2015	m13	35.09	54.10	54%	19.01	54%
2016	m13	18.37	14.24	-22%	4.13	22%
2017	m13	34.73	32.89	-5%	1.85	5%
2018	m13	8.07	9.69	20%	1.62	20%
2019	m13	21.14	14.94	-29%	6.21	29%
2020	m13	8.06	10.20	27%	2.14	27%
2021	m13	48.50	20.66	-57%	27.84	57%
2012	m14	21.28	20.84	-2%	0.44	2%
2013	m14	94.72	62.63	-34%	32.09	34%
2014	m14	37.17	29.80	-20%	7.37	20%
2015	m14	35.09	57.27	63%	22.18	63%
2016	m14	18.37	18.59	1%	0.22	1%
2017	m14	34.73	35.25	1%	0.52	1%
2018	m14	8.07	10.60	31%	2.53	31%
2019	m14	21.14	14.06	-33%	7.08	33%
2020	m14	8.06	10.01	24%	1.95	24%
2021	m14	48.50	21.86	-55%	26.65	55%
2012	m15	21.28	20.31	-5%	0.97	5%
2013	m15	94.72	61.34	-35%	33.38	35%
2014	m15	37.17	31.65	-15%	5.53	15%
2015	m15	35.09	44.42	27%	9.33	27%
2016	m15	18.37	13.04	-29%	5.33	29%
2017	m15	34.73	39.39	13%	4.65	13%
2018	m15	8.07	9.96	23%	1.89	23%
2019	m15	21.14	13.99	-34%	7.15	34%
2020	m15	8.06	10.91	35%	2.84	35%
2021	m15	48.50	17.68	-64%	30.82	64%

Vear	Model	Harvest	Forecast	Forecast	Absolute	МАДЕ
2012	m16	21.28	21.46	1%	0.19	1%
2013	m16	94.72	59.25	-37%	35.47	37%
2014	m16	37.17	25.68	-31%	11.50	31%
2015	m16	35.09	53.92	54%	18.83	54%
2016	m16	18.37	20.84	13%	2.46	13%
2017	m16	34.73	42.85	23%	8.11	23%
2018	m16	8.07	12.27	52%	4.20	52%
2019	m16	21.14	13.33	-37%	7.81	37%
2020	m16	8.06	11.17	39%	3.11	39%
2021	m16	48.50	22.53	-54%	25.97	54%
2012	m17	21.28	19.49	-8%	1.79	8%
2013	m17	94.72	61.35	-35%	33.37	35%
2014	m17	37.17	28.42	-24%	8.76	24%
2015	m17	35.09	56.22	60%	21.12	60%
2016	m17	18.37	14.70	-20%	3.67	20%
2017	m17	34.73	35.44	2%	0.71	2%
2018	m17	8.07	10.21	27%	2.14	27%
2019	m17	21.14	14.26	-33%	6.88	33%
2020	m17	8.06	10.51	30%	2.45	30%
2021	m17	48.50	20.90	-57%	27.60	57%
2012	m18	21.28	21.28	0%	0.01	0%
2013	m18	94.72	60.61	-36%	34.11	36%
2014	m18	37.17	26.43	-29%	10.75	29%
2015	m18	35.09	56.67	61%	21.58	61%
2016	m18	18.37	18.77	2%	0.40	2%
2017	m18	34.73	38.12	10%	3.38	10%
2018	m18	8.07	10.95	36%	2.88	36%
2019	m18	21.14	13.28	-37%	7.86	37%
2020	m18	8.06	10.45	30%	2.39	30%
2021	m18	48.50	22.26	-54%	26.24	54%

Table 9.–Forecast performance of the individual multiple regression models based on juvenile pink salmon CPUE and a temperature index (models m16 through m18). Forecast performance (2012–2021) is expressed as the percent deviation from the observed Southeast Alaska harvest. Positive values indicate the forecast was higher than actual and negative values indicate the forecast was lower than actual. Forecasts are bias-corrected. The performance metric MAPE is the one-step-ahead mean absolute percent error.

Table 10.–Forecast performance of the model-averaged approach, based on 18 multiple regression models with juvenile pink salmon CPUE and a temperature index, and weighted by the one step-ahead inverse-variance. Forecast performance (2012–2021) is expressed as the percent deviation from the observed Southeast Alaska harvest. Positive values indicate the forecast was higher than actual and negative values indicate the forecast was lower than actual. Forecasts are not bias-corrected. The performance metric MAPE is the one-step-ahead mean absolute percent error.

-		Harvest		Forecast	Absolute	
Year	Model	(observed)	Forecast	performance	deviation	MAPE
2012	m19	21.28	20.23	-5%	1.05	5%
2013	m19	94.72	57.91	-39%	36.81	39%
2014	m19	37.17	29.66	-20%	7.51	20%
2015	m19	35.09	50.72	45%	15.63	45%
2016	m19	18.37	17.37	-5%	1.00	5%
2017	m19	34.73	36.80	6%	2.06	6%
2018	m19	8.07	10.73	33%	2.66	33%
2019	m19	21.14	14.88	-30%	6.26	30%
2020	m19	8.06	10.73	33%	2.67	33%
2021	m19	48.50	20.31	-58%	28.19	58%

Table 11.–Forecast performance of the model-averaged approach, based on 18 multiple regression models with juvenile pink salmon CPUE and a temperature index, and weighting the models equally. Forecast performance (2012–2021) is expressed as the percent deviation from the observed Southeast Alaska harvest. Positive values indicate the forecast was higher than actual and negative values indicate the forecasts are not bias-corrected. The performance metric MAPE is the one-step-ahead mean absolute percent error.

		Harvest		Forecast	Absolute	
Year	Model	(observed)	Forecast	performance	deviation	MAPE
2012	m20	21.28	20.25	-5%	1.03	5%
2013	m20	94.72	58.00	-39%	36.72	39%
2014	m20	37.17	29.64	-20%	7.53	20%
2015	m20	35.09	51.14	46%	16.04	46%
2016	m20	18.37	18.20	-1%	0.17	1%
2017	m20	34.73	37.48	8%	2.74	8%
2018	m20	8.07	10.97	36%	2.91	36%
2019	m20	21.14	14.72	-30%	6.42	30%
2020	m20	8.06	10.89	35%	2.83	35%
2021	m20	48.50	20.77	-57%	27.74	57%



Figure 1.–The Icy Strait region encompasses waters of Icy Strait from the east side of Lemesurier Island east to a line from Point Couverden south to Point Augusta in northern Southeast Alaska. The Southeast Coastal Monitoring (SECM) project transects in Upper Chatham and Icy Straits are shown as red points for comparison to the 70 satellite data points (black circles) in the Icy Strait region.



Figure 2.–The Chatham region encompasses waters of Chatham and Icy Straits from the easternmost point of Lemesurier Island east to Admiralty Island, and south to the approximate latitude of 56.025° N (roughly Cape Decision, Kuiu Island) in Southeast Alaska. There are 313 satellite data points (black circles) in the Chatham region.



Figure 3.–The northern Southeast Alaska (NSEAK) region encompasses northern Southeast Alaska inside waters from 59.475 to 56.075° north latitude and from -137.175 to -132.825° west longitude. There are 1,344 satellite data points (black circles) in the NSEAK region.



Figure 4.–The Southeast Alaska (SEAK) region encompasses Southeast Alaska inside waters from 59.475 to 54.725° north latitude and from -137.175 to -130.675° west longitude. There are 2,669 satellite stations (black circles) in the SEAK region.



Figure 5.–Satellite sea surface temperature (°C) averaged over 5 time strata and the 4 regions Icy Strait, Chatham, northern Southeast Alaska (NSEAK), and Southeast Alaska (SEAK), from 1997 through 2021.



Figure 6.–Average temperature (°C) at 20 m depth during May, June, and July at 8 SECM project monitoring stations in Icy Strait (Icy Strait and Upper Chatham transects; Icy Strait temperature index) from 1997 through 2021.

APPENDICES

Appendix A.–Methodology used by ADF&G to forecast adult pink salmon returns or harvest in Southeast Alaska (1970–2021). Separate forecasts for northern and southern Southeast Alaska were made from 1970 through 1992, after which harvest forecasts were made for the entire Southeast Alaska region.

Forecast year	Method – Southern Southeast Alaska (SSEAK)	Method – Northern Southeast Alaska (NSEAK)	Response variable	Reference
1970	Simple linear regression of observed pre-emergent fry index and subsequent even-year total adult return.	Simple linear regression of escapement-weighted pre-emergent fry index and subsequent total adult return.	returns	Valentine et al. 1969; Valentine et al. 1970
1971	Simple linear regression of observed pre-emergent fry index and subsequent total adult return.	Simple linear regression of escapement-weighted pre-emergent fry index and subsequent total adult return.	returns	Gwartney et al. 1970
1972	Simple linear regression of escapement-weighted pre- emergent fry index and subsequent total adult return.	Simple linear regression of escapement-weighted pre-emergent fry index and subsequent total adult return.	returns	Durley 1971; Durley and Seibel 1972
1973	Simple linear regression of escapement index-weighted pre-emergent fry index and total adult return.	Simple linear regression of escapement-weighted pre-emergent fry index and total adult return. Forecast adjusted down due to colder than average marine water temps.	returns	Durley 1972; Durley 1973a
1974	Multiple linear regression of unweighted pre-emergent fry abundance, spring (Mar.–May) seawater temperature at Ketchikan, and total adult return.	Multiple linear regression of escapement- weighted pre-emergent fry index, spring (Mar.–May) estuary seawater temperature at Juneau-Sitka, and total adult return.	returns	Durley 1973b; Durley 1973c
1975	Simple linear regression of unweighted pre-emergent fry index and total adult return.	Multiple linear regression of escapement- weighted pre-emergent fry index, mean air temperature (Apr.–Aug.) at 7 locations in NSEAK, and total adult return.	returns	Kingsbury and Larson 1975
1976	Multiple linear regression of pre-emergent fry abundance, spring (Mar.–May) seawater temperature at Ketchikan, and total adult return.	Multiple linear regression of escapement- weighted pre-emergent fry index, air temp (Apr.–Aug.) at 7 locations in NSEAK, and total adult return.	returns	Kingsbury and Larson 1976a, 1976b
1977	Multiple linear regression of pre-emergent fry index, spring (Mar.–May) seawater temperature at Ketchikan, and total adult return.	Multiple linear regression of escapement- weighted pre-emergent fry index, air temp (Apr.–Aug.) at 7 locations in NSEAK, and total adult return.	returns	Kingsbury and Larson 1977

-continued-

42

Appendix A.–Page 2 of 6.

Forecast year	Method – Southern Southeast Alaska (SSEAK)	Method – Northern Southeast Alaska (NSEAK)	Response variable	Reference
1978	Multiple linear regression of parent-year escapements, winter air temperatures, and adult returns.	Parent-year escapements and spawner return ratios.	returns	Kingsbury 1978
1979	Multiple linear regression of unweighted pre-emergent fry index, average annual air temperature at 15 stations located throughout Southeast Alaska, and index of fry fitness.	Multiple linear regression of pre-emergent fry index and average annual air temperature at 15 stations located throughout Southeast Alaska.	returns	Jones 1979
1980	Multiple linear regression of pre-emergent fry index, average January-February air temperature at several stations in SSEAK, and parent-year escapements.	Multiple linear regression of pre-emergent fry index and average annual air temperature at 15 stations located throughout Southeast Alaska.	returns	Jones and Hofmeister 1980
1981	Multiple linear regression of escapement, and August, November–February, and spring air temperatures for several stations in SSEAK.	Multiple linear regression of pre-emergent fry index and index of spring environmental conditions in NSEAK.	returns	Jones and Hofmeister 1981
1982	Multiple linear regression of escapement, and August, November–February, and spring air temperatures for several stations in SSEAK.	Multiple linear regression of escapement, winter precipitation, and spring air temperatures.	returns	Jones and Hofmeister 1982
1983	Multiple linear regression with escapements, rainfall in the fall of the parent year, and winter air temperatures.	Multiple linear regression of pre-emergent fry index and spring air temperatures.	returns	Jones and Hofmeister 1983a
1984	Multiple linear regression that incorporated parent-year escapements, parent-year weight, and an adjustment for the increasing numbers of females in the escapements in recent years.	Multiple linear regression that incorporated pre- emergent fry and spring air temperatures at 5 stations in NSEAK.	returns	Jones and Hofmeister 1983b
1985	Multiple linear regression of estimates of parent egg deposition and average winter air temps at several stations in SSEAK.	Multiple linear regression of parent-year escapement, pre-emergent fry index, and spring air temperatures at several stations in NSEAK.	returns	Jones and Hofmeister 1985
1986	Multiple linear regression of escapement index, average winter air temperature at several stations in SSEAK, and average CPUE of the last 2 weeks of the districts 103 and 104 seine fishery; latter variable is a measure of the quantity of females in the escapement.	Multiple linear regression of pre-emergent fry index and average regional air temperatures during the year fry emerge and outmigrate.	returns	Jones and Hofmeister 1986

-continued-

Appendix A.–Page 3 of 6.

Forecast year	Method – Southern Southeast Alaska (SSEAK)	Method – Northern Southeast Alaska (NSEAK)	Response variable	Reference
1987	Multiple linear regression on 22 years of data to forecast survival (return/spawner). Variables included average minimum winter air temperatures in SSEAK, date of the coldest 15-day moving average over same time period, and a variable related to escapement sex ratios.	Multiple linear regression of pre-emergent fry index and index of marine conditions in the year that fry outmigrated.	returns	Jones and Hofmeister 1987
1988	Multiple linear regression of average minimum winter air temperature in SSEAK, date of coldest 15-day moving average over the same time period, and the brood year escapement index.	Multiple linear regression of average minimum winter air temperature in SSEAK, date of coldest 15-day moving average over the same time period, and brood year escapement index.	returns	Jones and Hofmeister 1988
1989	Multiple linear regression of brood year escapement index, average minimum winter air temperatures (1 Nov. through 28 Feb.), and the lowest average 50-day precipitation over the spawning period (15 July–30 Sept.).	Multiple linear regression of escapement indices weighted by the size of the parent-year adults and environmental conditions during the year of fry outmigration.	returns	Hofmeister and Jones 1989
1990	Multiple linear regression of brood year escapement index, and average daily minimum winter air temperatures from 5 stations in SSEAK (1 Nov.–28 Feb.)	Multiple linear regression of brood year escapement index and average length of fry collected during early marine program in Tenakee Inlet.	returns	Hofmeister 1990
1991	Variance-weighted nonlinear least-squares regression with a brood year escapement index, average daily minimum air temperatures for 5 stations in SSEAK (1 Nov.–28 Feb.), and a total escapement index from the 2 previous brood years (i.e., generalized 3-parameter Ricker model).	Multiple linear regression of brood year escapement index and average weight of fry collected in Tenakee Inlet (16–31 May).	returns	Hofmeister and Blick 1991
1992	Multiple linear regression with a brood year escapement index, average daily minimum air temperatures for 5 stations in SSEAK (1 Nov.–28 Feb.), and a total escapement index from the 2 previous brood years (i.e., generalized 3-parameter Ricker model).	Multiple linear regression of brood year escapement index and average weight of fry collected in Tenakee Inlet (16–31 May).	returns	Hofmeister and Blick 1992

-continued-

Appendix A.–Page 4 of 6.

Forecast year	Method	Response variable	Reference
1993	Multiple linear regression of the brood year escapement index, average daily minimum winter air temperatures (1 Nov.–29 Feb.) from 9 NOAA weather stations throughout Southeast Alaska, and sum of previous 2 brood year escapement indices. Years 1987–1988 considered outliers and removed from the model.	harvest	Hofmeister and Blick 1993
1994	Multiple linear regression of the brood year escapement index, average daily minimum winter air temperatures (1 Nov.–29 Feb.) from 9 NOAA weather stations throughout Southeast Alaska, and sum of previous 2 brood year escapement indices. Years 1987–1988 considered outliers and removed from the model. Prediction based on a subjective weighting of multiple points as multiple linear regression analysis, aerial survey observations of fry abundance, and winter air temperatures.	harvest	Hofmeister and Blick 1994
1995	Multiple linear regression of the brood year escapement index, average daily minimum winter air temperatures (1 Nov.–29 Feb.) from 9 NOAA weather stations throughout Southeast Alaska, and sum of previous 2 brood year escapement indices. Years 1987–1988 considered outliers and removed from the model. Prediction based on a subjective weighting of multiple points as multiple linear regression analysis, fry abundance from a small-scale early marine program in 1994, and precipitation records.	harvest	Hofmeister and Blick 1995
1996	Prediction based on a subjective weighting of multiple points as statistical forecast models, historic average harvests, and expert opinion.	harvest	Geiger and Frenette 1996
1997	Multiple linear regression of the brood year escapement index, average daily minimum winter air temperatures (1 Nov.–29 Feb.) from 9 NOAA weather stations throughout Southeast Alaska, and sum of previous 2 brood year escapement indices. Years 1987–1988 considered outliers and removed from the model. Prediction based on a subjective weighting of multiple points as multiple linear regression analysis; anecdotal fry abundance information from fishers, biologists, and sonar studies; juvenile pink salmon CPUE data from the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) trawl survey; historic harvests; and winter air temperatures.	harvest	Hofmeister and Blick 1997
1998	Prediction based on a subjective weighting of statistical forecast models (standard 2-parameter Ricker model including winter temperature and the sum of the 2 previous brood year escapement indices, and a 3-parameter Ricker model), early marine fry surveys, winter air temperature, and juvenile pink salmon CPUE data from the NMFS trawl survey.	harvest	Hofmeister and Blick 1998
1999	Prediction based on a subjective combination of statistical forecast models (Ricker spawner-recruit, "generalized" Ricker and Loess smooth), escapement index, and winter air temperature.	harvest	Zadina and Blick 1999
2000	Prediction based on a subjective combination of statistical forecast models (Ricker spawner-recruit, "generalized" Ricker, and Loess smooth), brood year escapements, and winter incubation (air) temperature.	returns	Willette 2000

Appendix A.–Page 5 of 6.

Forecast year	Method	Response variable	Reference
2001	Prediction based on a subjective combination of multiple regression analysis, using 40 years of escapement and return (catch + escapement) data, winter incubation (air) temperature data, anecdotal spring fry observations, and expert opinion.	harvest	Zadina 2001
2002	Prediction based on the spawner-recruit relationship, winter incubation (air) temperatures, and anecdotal spring fry observations.	harvest	Zadina 2002
2003	Predictions based on 2 statistical models (Ricker spawner-recruit relationship and a "generalized" Ricker fit), winter (air) incubation temperatures, and brood year escapements.	harvest	Zadina 2003
2004	Exponential smooth (weighted average) of harvests since 1960	harvest	Heinl et al. 2004
2005	Exponential smooth (weighted average) of harvests since 1960	harvest	Heinl et al. 2005
2006	Exponential smooth (weighted average) of harvests since 1960	harvest	Heinl et al. 2006
2007	Exponential smooth (weighted average) of harvests since 1960, adjusted using NOAA Auke Bay Lab June–July pink salmon fry data.	harvest	Heinl et al. 2007
2008	Model average (equal weight) of the exponential smooth (weighted average) harvest estimate and the CPUE-error-adjusted estimate (adjusted using NOAA Auke Bay Lab June–July pink salmon fry data).	Harvest	Heinl 2008
2009	Exponential smooth (weighted average) of harvests since 1960, adjusted using NOAA Auke Bay Lab June–July pink salmon fry data.	harvest	Heinl 2009
2010	Model average (equal weight) of the exponential smooth (weighted average) harvest estimate and the CPUE-error-adjusted estimate (adjusted using NOAA Auke Bay Lab June–July pink salmon fry data) using even-year data only.	harvest	Heinl et al. 2010
2011	Exponential smooth (weighted average) of harvests since 1960, adjusted using NOAA Auke Bay Lab June–July pink salmon fry data and using odd-year data only.	harvest	Piston and Heinl 2011
2012	Model average (equal weight) of the exponential smooth (weighted average) harvest estimate and the CPUE-error-adjusted estimate (adjusted using NOAA Auke Bay Lab June–July pink salmon fry data) using even-year data only.	harvest	Piston and Heinl 2012
2013	Exponential smooth (weighted average) of harvests since 1960, adjusted using NOAA Auke Bay Lab June–July pink salmon fry data and using odd-year data only.	harvest	Piston and Heinl 2013
2014	Exponential smooth (weighted average) of harvests since 1960, adjusted using NOAA Auke Bay Lab June–July pink salmon fry data and using even-year data only.	harvest	Piston and Heinl 2014

-continued-

Appendix A.–Page 6 of 6.

Forecast year	Method	Response variable	Reference
1 ofecust year	Melliou	Response variable	Reference
2015	Exponential smooth (weighted average) of harvests since 1960, adjusted using NOAA Auke Bay Lab June–July pink salmon fry data.	harvest	Piston and Heinl 2015
2016	Exponential smooth (weighted average) of harvests since 1960, adjusted using NOAA Auke Bay Lab June–July pink salmon fry data.	harvest	Piston and Heinl 2016
2017	Exponential smooth (weighted average) of harvests since 1960, adjusted using NOAA Auke Bay Lab June–July pink salmon fry data.	harvest	Piston and Heinl 2017
2018	5-year average of the even-year Southeast Alaska pink salmon harvests.	harvest	Piston and Heinl 2018
2019	Linear multiple regression model based on juvenile pink salmon abundance indices collected by the SECM project in northern Southeast Alaska inside waters during June and July and the Icy Strait temperature index (overall average 20 m integrated water column temperature was used to estimate the Icy Strait Temperature Index [ISTI], May–August).	harvest	Piston et al. 2019
2020	Linear multiple regression model based on juvenile pink salmon abundance indices collected by the SECM project in northern Southeast Alaska inside waters during June and July and the Icy Strait temperature index (overall average 20 m integrated water column temperature was used to estimate the Icy Strait Temperature Index [ISTI], May–July).	harvest	Piston et al. 2020
2021	Linear multiple regression model based on juvenile pink salmon abundance indices collected by the SECM project in northern Southeast Alaska inside waters during June and July and the Icy Strait temperature index (overall average 20 m integrated water column temperature was used to estimate the Icy Strait Temperature Index [ISTI], May–July).	harvest	Piston et al. 2021a
2022	Linear multiple regression model based on juvenile pink salmon abundance indices collected by the SECM project in northern Southeast Alaska inside waters during June and July and the Icy Strait temperature index (overall average 20 m integrated water column temperature was used to estimate the Icy Strait Temperature Index [ISTI], May–July).	harvest	Piston et al. 2022

Appendix B.–Annual adult pink salmon harvest data from Southeast Alaska (millions of fish), the official forecast for the year, and the absolute percent error between the observed harvest and the forecasted harvest, 1981–2021.

			Absolute
Year	Harvest	Forecast	percent error
1981	18.9	10.6	44%
1982	24.2	25.5	5%
1983	37.5	13.5	64%
1984	24.7	29.6	20%
1985	51.9	32.1	38%
1986	46.2	38.4	17%
1987	10.3	26.3	155%
1988	11.1	41.4	273%
1989	59.4	19.5	67%
1990	32.3	9.1	72%
1991	61.9	62.4	1%
1992	34.9	29.2	16%
1993	57.3	52.3	9%
1994	57.3	46.0	20%
1995	47.9	20.0	58%
1996	64.6	60.0	7%
1997	28.9	35.3	22%
1998	42.4	41.2	3%
1999	77.8	41.0	47%
2000	20.2	37.5	85%
2001	67.0	42.0	37%
2002	45.3	36.5	19%
2003	52.5	43.5	17%
2004	45.3	50.0	10%
2005	59.1	49.0	17%
2006	11.6	52.0	348%
2007	44.8	47.0	5%
2008	15.9	19.0	19%
2009	38.0	41.0	8%
2010	24.1	19.0	21%
2011	58.9	55.0	7%
2012	21.3	17.0	20%
2013	94.7	54.0	43%
2014	37.2	22.0	41%
2015	35.1	58.0	65%
2016	18.4	34.0	85%
2017	34.7	43.0	24%
2018	8.1	23.0	185%
2019	21.1	18.0	15%
2020	8.1	12.0	49%
2021	48.5	28.0	42%